Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-18-2016 12:00 AM

Clinical and Cost-Effectiveness of a Locking Versus Non-Locking Fixation Plate in Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy

Codie Primeau, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Trevor Birmingham, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Kinesiology © Codie Primeau 2016

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Orthopedics Commons

Recommended Citation

Primeau, Codie, "Clinical and Cost-Effectiveness of a Locking Versus Non-Locking Fixation Plate in Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy" (2016). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 3986. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/3986

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

We investigated the clinical and cost-effectiveness of using a locking versus non-locking fixation plate in medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy (HTO) for patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Medical charts were retrospectively reviewed up to 12 months following HTO for 144 patients who received a locking plate and 105 patients who received a non-locking plate. Surgeon notes provided the time to return to full weight-bearing. Participants had completed the Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) preoperatively, six and 12 months postoperatively. Hospital and provincial administrative databases provided direct and indirect cost data. Improvements in KOOS scores were similar between groups. The locking plate was more expensive and therefore its use was not cost-effective from the healthcare payer perspective. However, the locking plate enabled statistically shorter time to return to full weight-bearing, translating to a faster return to work, and therefore its use was cost-effective from the societal perspective.

Keywords

Key terms: *knee; osteoarthritis; high tibial osteotomy; locking plate; ContourLock; weightbearing; patient reported outcomes; KOOS; cost-effectiveness; economic analysis*

Co-Authorship Statement

Codie Primeau designed this study in collaboration with J. Robert Giffin, MD, Jacquelyn Marsh, PhD and Trevor Birmingham, PhD. Codie Primeau was solely responsible for patient screening and data extraction. He conducted the statistical analyses, interpreted the results and wrote the original draft of the thesis. Drs. Birmingham, Giffin and Marsh reviewed and revised drafts of the thesis. Codie Primeau received funding from the Bone & Joint Institute's Collaborative Program in Musculoskeletal Health Research to support this project.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisors, Drs. Trevor Birmingham, J. Robert Giffin and Jacquelyn Marsh, for their continuous guidance and support through this graduate experience and for contributing to my growth as an independent researcher. I am extremely grateful that you have all gone above and beyond to provide me with the best opportunities to make my graduate studies exceptionally enriching and for preparing me for future endeavors.

I would also like to thank Dr. Rebecca Moyer for her encouragement in the lab and for always being available to provide advice and guidance, along with Mr. Ian Jones for sharing his lab expertise and assistance. Thank you both for providing an extremely positive lab atmosphere and for helping me develop countless skills that I will carry with me in the future.

To my fellow WOBL and FKSMC students, thank you for all of the encouragement and laughs through my graduate studies. I am extremely grateful that we were able to share this experience and you all made it enjoyable for me. I would like to extend a special thank you to Ryan Pinto for always being there to lend a helping hand and for being a great friend.

Cheryl Pollard, Cathy Cuthbert and Marsha Yerema, thank you all for all of your assistance, support, good company and humor in the clinic.

To the Bone & Joint Institute for providing me with the opportunity to expand my MSK research knowledge and apply this knowledge in a transdisciplinary manner through the Collaborative Program in Musculoskeletal Health Research.

Finally, thank you to my friends and family for their continuous support. Thank you, Mom, Dad & Connor, for always being patient with me and for providing constant words of love, encouragement and motivation. I could not have done any of this without you.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Co-Authorship Statement	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Appendices	xi
List of Abbreviations	xii
Chapter 1	1
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Background & Rationale	1
1.2 Study Objectives and Hypotheses	
1.3 Review of Literature	6
1.3.1 Osteoarthritis	6
1.3.1.1 Epidemiology	6
1.3.2 Knee Osteoarthritis	7
1.3.2.1 Knee Anatomy	7
1.3.2.2 Pathophysiology	
1.3.2.3 Etiology	
1.3.2.4 Risk Factors for Knee OA	9
1.3.2.5 Diagnosis and Clinical Manifestations	
1.3.3 Management of medial compartment knee OA	
1.3.4 Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy	
1.3.4.1 Preoperative Assessment	

		1.3.4.2 Surgical Procedure	
		1.3.4.3 Benefits of Medial Opening Wedge HTO	24
		1.3.4.4 Medial Opening Wedge HTO Success	
		1.3.4.5 Weight-bearing and Return to Work after HTO	
		1.3.4.6 Locking Plate vs. Non-Locking Plate Designs	
	1.3.	5 The Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®	
	1.3.0	6 Health Economics	
		1.3.6.1 Economic Evaluation	
		1.3.6.2 Economic Burden of Osteoarthritis	
С	hapter 2		
2	Methods		
	2.1 Stuc	ly Design	
	2.2 Elig	ibility Criteria	
	2.3 Inter	rvention	
	2.3.	1 Operative Procedure	
	2.3.2	2 Post-operative Care	
	2.4 Rad	iographic Assessment	
	2.5 Out	come Measures	
	2.5.	1 Return to full weight-bearing	
	2.5.2	2 Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score	
	2.5.2	3 Cost	39
		2.5.3.1 Surgical Costs	39
		2.5.3.2 Healthcare Resource Use	39
	2.6 Data	a Analysis	41
	2.6.	1 Objective 1	41
	2.6.2	2 Objective 2	

		2.6.3	Objectiv	ve 3	42
			2.6.3.1	Economic Analysis	42
			2.6.3.2	Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio	42
			2.6.3.3	Net Benefit Regression	42
			2.6.3.4	Uncertainty	43
			2.6.3.5	Sensitivity Analysis	44
		2.6.4	Missing	Data	44
Chapter 3			45		
3	Res	ults			45
	3.1	Patien	t Flow		45
	3.2	Demo	graphics a	and Clinical Characteristics	47
	3.3	Surgic	al Charac	eteristics	49
	3.4	Surgic	al and Po	st-operative Complications	50
	3.5	Outco	me Meas	ıres	51
		3.5.1	Objectiv	ve 1	51
		3.5.2	Objectiv	ve 2	51
		3.5.3	Objectiv	ve 3	55
			3.5.3.1	ICER	55
			3.5.3.2	Net Benefit Regression	55
			3.5.3.3	Sensitivity Analysis	59
C	napte	er 4			63
4	Dis	cussion			63
	4.1	Streng	ths & Lir	nitations	68
C	napte	er 5			72
5	Cor	nclusior	1		72
	5.1	Future	Directio	ns	72

References	. 74
Appendices	. 95
Curriculum Vitae	. 96

List of Tables

Table 1: Ideal patient criteria for a medial opening wedge HTO.	22
Table 2 : Baseline demographics and clinical characteristics (n = 249)	48
Table 3: Adverse event rates within first 12 months after HTO $(n = 249)$	50
Table 4: Time to return to weight-bearing and patient reported outcome measures (KOOS)	
for all patients ($n = 244$)	52
Table 5: Cost and effect outcomes.	57
Table 6: Net benefit regression results	57
Table 7: Sensitivity analyses cost and effect outcomes.	60
Table 8: Sensitivity analyses net benefit regression results.	61

List of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic representation of the interacting systemic (biochemical) and local (biomechanical) risk factors that are associated with the development of knee OA and progression of the disease. Also presented are the radiographic and clinical criteria used to diagnose knee OA according to Kellgren and Lawrence, 1957 and Altman et al., 1986...... 11

Figure 7: Participant flow through the study. Asterisk represents a smaller sample size for the cost-effectiveness analysis from the societal perspective (n = 106 locking plate, n = 58 non-locking plate). 46

Figure 9: Mean Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) total and subdomain change scores from baseline to six months postoperative (with 95% confidence intervals) for patients undergoing a medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy with an locking or non-locking internal fixation plate. 54

Figure 11: Sensitivity analysis cost-effectiveness acceptability curves (CEAC) displaying the probability that the locking plate is cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate from the societal perspective over a range of willingness to pay values for an additional one-point improvement in the Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score total change score (baseline to 12 months). A) Adjusting the dollar value for retirement or home making time, B) Adjusting the time to return to work, C) Combining the two previous adjustments....... 62

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Ethics Approval

List of Abbreviations

ADL	Activities of Daily Living
ACL	Anterior Cruciate Ligament
AP	Anteroposterior
ASA	American Society of Anesthesiologists
BMI	Body Mass Index
CEAC	Cost-effectiveness Acceptability Curve
CI	Confidence Interval
НТО	High Tibial Osteotomy
ICER	Incremental Cost-effectiveness Ratio
INB	Incremental Net Benefit
KL	Kellgren-Lawrence (grading of OA severity)
KOOS	Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score
MAA	Mechanical Axis Angle
NBR	Net Benefit Regression
OA	Osteoarthritis
PCL	Posterior Cruciate Ligament
SD	Standard Deviation
ТКА	Total Knee Arthroplasty
UKA	Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty
WBL	Weight-bearing Line
WTP	Willingness-to-pay

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

1.1 Background & Rationale

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a common degenerative health condition and a leading cause of pain, disability and reduced quality of life in adult populations worldwide¹. As a chronic condition, the symptoms of the disease can persist for decades, resulting in substantial economic burden to healthcare systems. In Canada, arthritis accounted for \$6.4 billion of direct and indirect healthcare costs in the year 2000, OA being responsible for the majority of these costs². These costs are expected to continue to grow with the aging population and the rising rate of obesity³. Therefore, the identification of cost-effective treatments for OA is of utmost concern for public health strategists².

Osteoarthritis commonly involves the knee, with an estimated 250 million people currently affected globally⁴. Although there is no known cure for knee OA, there are several identified risk factors for knee OA progression that form the targets of various interventions^{5–8}. Varus alignment of the lower limb is a particularly strong risk factor for the progression of knee OA due to its effect on loading the medial tibiofemoral compartment^{9–13}. Surgical and non-surgical treatments aimed at altering loads on the medial tibiofemoral compartment are therefore common^{14–17}.

Medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy (HTO) is a surgical realignment procedure for patients with varus malalignment and OA of the medial compartment of the tibiofemoral joint^{15,18,19}. The goals of HTO are to correct lower limb malalignment, redistribute loads laterally across the knee to lessen the compressive force on the diseased medial compartment, and thereby improve pain and function. The medial opening wedge technique requires cutting into the medial proximal tibia, wedging the bone open to a predetermined correction size to correct the malalignment, and securing the osteotomy with a fixation device^{18,20,21}. Adequate fixation of the osteotomy, typically achieved using an internal fixation plate, is vital for bone healing and recovery during rehabilitation^{22,23}, that involves progressive weight-bearing using ambulatory aids (i.e. crutches, canes, etc.). The patient's weight-bearing status is progressed based on postoperative assessments of radiographic bone healing and pain. The suggested duration of return to full weight-bearing after medial opening wedge HTO ranges from 2 to 12 weeks, and highly depends on the type of fixation used^{24–30}.

HTO fixation plates are similar to those used for fracture fixation and can generally be categorized as non-locking and locking. The mechanical principles are quite different for non-locking and locking plates, providing distinct mechanical environments for bone healing. Non-locking plates rely on bone-plate compression and high friction at the boneplate interface to provide fracture site stability³¹. At higher loads, however, non-locking screws that are drilled into the bone can begin to loosen. This reduces bone-plate friction, may render the plate unstable and increases the risk of complications such as hardware failure, delayed union, non-union and loss of correction³². Locking plate designs address mechanical issues with threaded fixed-angle screws or interference washers that control the axial rotation between the screw and the plate, and eliminate screw-plate-bone motion³³. The mechanism does not rely on high friction at the bone-plate interface, but rather maintains stability at the angular-stable screw-plate interface³¹. Locking plates also convert shear stresses to compressive stresses, improving fixation since bone has a stronger resistance to compressive stress compared to shear. The mechanical advantages of locking plates provide stronger implant stability and resistance to higher load-bearing, and are therefore suggested to be advantageous for healing after medial opening wedge HTO^{23,34}.

In vitro biomechanical studies have suggest that locking plates do provide greater mechanical stability in response to compression and torsion^{35,36}. Clinical studies suggest locking plates maintain the osteotomy correction size better than non-locking plates^{37,38}, provide faster improvements in patient-important outcomes^{37,38}, enable faster time to

achieve bone healing³⁷ and earlier return to full weight-bearing after surgery^{37,39,40}. Although results are mixed, some studies also suggest that the rates of delayed and nonunion^{22,38}, loss of correction and hardware failure have decreased since the introduction of locking plates⁴¹.

The Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® (ContourLock) is a relatively new locking plate designed to enable a precise fit proximally and distally on the tibia. The locking plate is proposed to provide advantages when compared to the commonly used non-locking Arthrex Puddu Plate® (Puddu). *In-vitro* biomechanical studies suggest the locking plate provides greater stability under high physiological stress loading and cyclical testing when compared to other locking and non-locking plates due to the wider distance between its fixed-angle screws^{42,43}. Although the greater stability is proposed to permit faster recovery after surgery, there is currently no study evaluating clinical outcomes after HTO using the plate.

The cost associated with using different HTO fixation plates is another important consideration. Costs of HTO include direct (healthcare resources consumed and out-of-pocket expenses) and indirect (time and productivity losses) costs. If locking plates can limit the number of postoperative complications that require revision surgery (i.e. non-union), locking plates could provide direct cost savings. Additionally, if locking plates enable quicker return to weight-bearing, patients could also return to work sooner, thus financially benefiting society with indirect cost savings from productivity. Alternatively, the cost of locking plates are substantially greater than non-locking plates because of their more complex design and number of screws (typically six or more, compared to four) used to achieve fixation. If clinical results are similar regardless of plate design then the extra costs of locking plates may not be warranted. Furthermore, the relative bulkiness of locking plates may cause irritation to the patients and require the plate to be surgically removed^{40,44} which can increase direct costs associated with the procedure. Importantly, the cost-effectiveness of different HTO fixation plate designs is currently unknown and requires research. Therefore the purpose of the present study is to compare

the clinical and cost-effectiveness of a locking plate (i.e., Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®) versus a non-locking plate (i.e., Arthrex Puddu Plate®) used for medial opening wedge HTO. Specific objective and hypotheses are listed below.

1.2 Study Objectives and Hypotheses

- To compare the time to return to full weight-bearing following medial opening wedge HTO in patients receiving a locking versus non-locking fixation plate. *Hypothesis*: Patients receiving the locking plate will return to full weight-bearing sooner postoperatively.
- To compare the change in patient-reported outcomes (Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score – KOOS) following a medial opening wedge HTO in patients receiving a locking versus non-locking fixation plate. *Hypothesis*: Patients receiving the locking plate will experience greater improvements in patient-reported outcomes from baseline to 6 months after the surgery.
- To estimate the cost-effectiveness of a locking plate compared to a non-locking plate, from the healthcare payer (Ministry of Health) and societal perspectives, using change in KOOS total score at 12 months postoperative as the measure of effectiveness.

Hypothesis: The locking plate will be cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate from both the healthcare payer and societal perspectives.

1.3 Review of Literature

1.3.1 Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common form of arthritis and is rapidly becoming one of the most disabling health conditions worldwide^{4,45–47}. It is a chronic musculoskeletal disease that can affect single or multiple joints, and is characterized by localized joint pain, functional limitations and diminished quality of life^{1,48}. In Canada, there are more than 4.4 million people (1 in 8) living with OA and this number is projected to double by the year of 2040 due to the aging population and the obesity epidemic⁴⁹.

1.3.1.1 Epidemiology

According to the 2013 Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study, the prevalence of OA has grown 72% from the year 1990 with approximately 240 million people burdened by the disease worldwide ⁴. The chronic nature of OA also makes it one of the fastest growing health conditions in terms of disability⁴⁶. It accounted for more than 17 million years living with disability (YLDs) globally in 2010, a 64% increase from the year of 1990⁵⁰. The World Health Organization (WHO) projects OA to become the fourth leading cause of disability worldwide by the year 2020⁵¹.

The disease is not isolated to a specific population group, but affects people of various ethnic backgrounds and in different geographical locations worldwide⁵². Although OA can be seen in people as young as 15 years of age, the majority of people affected by the disease are older individuals^{3,53} with women being affected approximately twice as often as men⁴⁸.

1.3.2 Knee Osteoarthritis

OA develops more frequently in the knee than any other weight-bearing joint in the body^{54–56} with over 10% of the adult population currently affected by symptomatic knee OA⁴⁹. Due to the high loading demands on the joint, knee OA specifically is considered one of the leading causes of physical disability worldwide^{57,58}. The lifetime risk of developing knee OA is estimated to be 45% (47% in women, 40% in men) with increased odds seen in those who possess predisposing risk factors for the disease such as obesity and malalignment, among others⁵⁹.

1.3.2.1 Knee Anatomy

The knee is a complex synovial hinge joint between the patella, the distal femur and the proximal tibia⁶⁰. The bone surfaces are lined with hyaline (articular) cartilage which aids in dissipating forces within the joint and limiting friction between bones. The cartilage tissue is not innervated by pain receptors, nor is it well vascularized which limits the tissue's ability to repair itself⁶¹. Aside from the surfaces concealed by articular cartilage, the inner lining of the joint is covered by a layer of connective tissue called the synovial membrane, or synovium. Its cells secrete synovial fluid, a viscous substance which reduces the level of friction within the joint space and provides nutrients to surrounding tissues whose supply of blood is poor, such as the menisci. There is a meniscus for each knee compartment (medial and lateral) between the articulating surfaces of the femur and the tibia. Their function is to assist with force dissipation from within the joint, improve knee joint stability and help lubricate the knee joint. Knee support is also maintained by various muscles and ligaments. The surrounding networks of muscle are important for assisting with shock absorption and initiation of movement about the knee. Ligaments are arranged in a manner that provides stability mediolaterally (collateral ligaments) and anteroposteriorly (cruciate ligaments) to the knee joint.

1.3.2.2 Pathophysiology

Knee OA is a degenerative condition that affects the various tissues of the joint and is considered a whole-joint disease⁶². It is characterized by the disruption of the natural cartilage remodeling process, ultimately leading to the fibrillation and softening of the articular cartilage and intensified degeneration of the tissue⁶³. As cartilage continues to breakdown, subchondral bone becomes exposed within the joint resulting in bone-on-bone articulation. Continuous friction between exposed bone leads to the development of osteophytes and subchondral cysts at the articulating bone extremities due to excessive bone remodeling^{48,64}. In later stages of the disease, the subchondral bone tissue will begin to thicken and become sclerotic. Additionally, it is common to see inflammation of the synovial lining of the joint⁴⁶ as well of the overproduction of several proteolytic enzymes and cytokines that have been shown to promote cartilage degradation and breakdown of the extracellular matrix of the joint. These intra-articular changes and inflammatory responses ultimately lead to loss of joint space, destabilization of the joint, abnormal joint loading and a number of clinical symptoms for the affected individual.

1.3.2.3 Etiology

Similar to OA in other joints of the body, knee OA is a complex condition. The initial onset of the disease can be idiopathic in nature, developing naturally over time as a result of various interacting risk factors (known as primary OA), or can develop following excessive or repetitive trauma to the knee joint such as ligament tears, cartilage impact, etc. (known as secondary OA)⁴⁷. There are still quite a few uncertainties that surround the etiology of the disease. Knee OA is unpredictable in its method of initiation and its progression, with some individuals exhibiting mild degeneration of the joint sustained over an extended period of time, while others progress in disease severity very rapidly. The medial compartment is the most commonly affected area of the joint when compared to other compartments of the knee^{8,65–67}. The disease does not affect the entire joint uniformly.

1.3.2.4 Risk Factors for Knee OA

As a disease whose onset and progression is quite variable, it is important to better understand the multiple risk factors that predispose individuals to developing knee OA and accelerate the progression of the disease. These risk factors can act systemically or can be considered local by acting directly on the joint itself (Figure 1).

Systemic risk factors have a biochemical influence on the knee joint. These factors can cause direct damage to the joint tissues or limit the tissue's ability to repair itself after being damaged, both of which make the affected individual susceptible to further injury. Systemic risk factors that have been associated with development of knee OA and its progression include $age^{46,47}$, genetics^{46,47,62}, gender^{6,46,62,68}, overweight/obesity (BMI \geq 25)^{69,70}, nutritional deficiencies^{71,72}, inactivity^{72,73} and elevated bone mineral density^{74,75}.

Local risk factors influence the joint mechanically. These factors are associated with exposure to joint injury or excessive joint loading that leads to degeneration of tissues. Local risk factors that have been associated with development of knee OA and its progression include knee malalignment^{10,55,76,77}, congenital deformities of the joint⁷⁸, previous injuries to the tissue components of the joint^{6,62,79,80}, overweight/obesity (BMI \geq 25)^{81–83}, occupation^{62,79,84}, muscle weakness^{85,86}, elevated peak knee adduction moment^{9–11,87,88}, elevated knee adduction impulse⁸⁹, and varus thrust⁹⁰.

Although risk factors have been shown to independently promote knee OA disease progression, the risks are intensified as individuals are exposed to multiple risk factors simultaneously. For example, mechanical varus alignment of the lower limb has been shown to increase the risk of medial compartment OA progression by a fourfold^{10,76} as a result of increased mechanical axial loading on the joint past a normal physiological range to maintain proper cartilage function. In overweight and obese individuals, the sheer excess weight increases this level of mechanical loading of the medial compartment leading to further articular cartilage breakdown. Various studies have suggested there is an interaction between lower limb alignment and obesity^{5,7}. Moreover, associated

symptoms of pain resulting from knee OA can promote immobility and sedentary lifestyles, risk factors for obesity, which can lead to further progression of OA as the individual's weight increases. For this reason, it is in the individual's best interest to tackle as many potential risk factors that are modifiable to minimize the risk of developing knee OA or slow down disease progression.



Figure 1: Schematic representation of the interacting systemic (biochemical) and local (biomechanical) risk factors that are associated with the development of knee OA and progression of the disease. Also presented are the radiographic and clinical criteria used to diagnose knee OA according to Kellgren and Lawrence, 1957 and Altman et al., 1986.

1.3.2.4.1 Varus Alignment

Lower limb alignment is typically determined using full-limb standing hip-knee-ankle (HKA) anteroposterior (AP) radiographs. The gold standard measure of lower limb alignment is the mechanical axis angle (MAA), defined as the angle formed between the line connecting the femoral head center of the hip and the knee joint center and the line connecting the knee joint center and the ankle joint center^{91,92} (Figure 2). It has been shown to provide excellent reliability when measured with digital software programs^{93,94}.



Figure 2: A) The mechanical axis angle (MAA) of the lower limb is measured as the angle between the line connecting the center of the hip and knee joints and the line connecting the center of the knee and ankle joints. B) The weight-bearing line (WBL) is drawn from the center of the hip joint to the center of the ankle joint.

Based on the MAA measure, lower limb alignment can be assessed to identify patients with varus ("bow-legged") or valgus ("knock-kneed") alignment. Individuals with an inward angulation of the distal segment of the lower limb (tibia and fibula) and a negative MAA are considered varus aligned, while those with an outward angulation and a positive MAA are considered valgus aligned. Many epidemiological studies suggest that lower limb malalignment is an important risk factor for knee OA progression^{5,55,76,95,96} and that the direction of this malalignment will affect which compartment of the knee joint is most affected. Medial compartment knee OA is most often seen in individuals with varus alignment, whereas lateral compartment knee OA is more commonly seen in individuals with valgus alignment^{55,76,97,98}.

The role alignment plays in the degenerative process of medial knee OA is related to increased loading of the knee joint^{10,96,99}. The distribution of loading within the joint is related to the lower limb weight-bearing line (WBL), a line drawn from the center of the femoral head to the center of the ankle (Figure 2). Individuals who are neutrally aligned will bear 75% of the overall knee load in the medial compartment while standing on one leg⁹¹ with a WBL passing through the medial compartment of the joint. As alignment steers away from neutral and the WBL is shifted medially, the load distribution within the knee joint will undergo aberrant changes. Individuals with varus alignment will experience an increase in medial compartment loading^{9,91,100}. This in turn, will lead to a heightened degree of articular cartilage degeneration. In fact, a longitudinal study found that for every additional 1 degree of varus, patients will lose 17.7µl of femoral articular cartilage on average annually, with similar losses seen in the tibial cartilage volume⁹⁷.

Overall, the increase in compartmental loading associated with varus alignment promotes progression of medial compartment knee OA. The additional loading intensifies medial articular degeneration and loss which results in medial joint space narrowing, a further degree of varus alignment and additional loading in the medial compartment, creating a vicious cycle of medial compartment knee OA progression (Figure 3).



Figure 3: The "vicious cycle" of medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Varus alignment leads to excess loading on the medial compartment, promotes articular cartilage breakdown, narrowing of medial joint space and further malalignment of the joint.

1.3.2.4.2 Gait and Knee Osteoarthritis

For the general population, one of the most common daily activities performed is walking, with thousands of steps taken per day¹⁰¹. Three-dimensional (3D) motion analysis of gait kinematics and kinetics has been used extensively in the literature to better understand biomechanical factors associated with knee OA. Specifically, authors have investigated the role of the external knee adduction moment (KAM) (Figure 4) on increased loading of the medial compartment^{10,102,103}. During stance phase of gait, individuals will generate a ground reaction force (GRF) vector that projects upwards and medial to the knee joint's center of rotation. The perpendicular line that connects the GRF to the knee joint center is known as the lever arm and the product of this lever arm and the GRF vector generates what is known as the external KAM. The external KAM creates a torque force that causes the tibia to adduct in relation to the femur, which results in greater compressive loading to the medial compartment of the joint. As the GRF is projected more medially, the lever arm grows longer and thus, increases the magnitude of the external KAM suggesting that the increase in external KAM is also related to alignment. Halder at al. suggest that the magnitude of medial compartment loading increases 5% for every 1 degree increase in varus while walking¹⁰⁴.

Several studies have shown that the external KAM is strongly associated with characteristics of knee OA such as knee pain in previously asymptomatic knees⁸⁸ and measures of OA disease severity^{87,105}. It has also been proven to be a reliable, valid and clinically meaningful proxy measure of medial compartment loading during gait^{9,106,107} and more importantly, a predictor for OA disease progression^{10,89}. Thus, treatment strategies have been geared towards decreasing the magnitude of external KAM during walking in an attempt to slow disease progression.



Figure 4: The external knee adduction moment (KAM) about the knee is the product of the perpendicular distance between the knee joint center and the ground reaction force (GRF) vector in the front plane, forming the lever arm, and the magnitude of the GRF vector. Figure adapted from Perry J *Gait Analysis: Normal and Pathological Function* 1992¹⁰⁸.

1.3.2.5 Diagnosis and Clinical Manifestations

Knee OA can develop in one or more of the three knee joint compartments: the medial tibiofemoral joint, the lateral tibiofemoral joint or the patellofemoral joint. Clinicians will use both clinical and radiographic assessment to diagnose patients with knee OA. Often, clinical assessment follows the guidelines set by Altman et al.¹⁰⁹, while radiographic assessment follows the criteria set by Kellgren and Lawrence¹¹⁰ (Figure 1). According to Altman et al., the required clinical criteria to diagnose a patient with knee OA includes knee pain, as well as one of the following; crepitus (popping sound/sensation or cracking) of the joint, over 50 years of age, or morning stiffness that lasts no longer than 30 minutes. For radiographic assessment, Kellgren and Lawrence developed a four point joint degeneration rating scale (1 = mild OA, 4 = severe OA) to assess OA disease severity in the knee joint by evaluating the presence or absence of osteophytic bone, sclerosis of subchondral bone and whether marked joint space narrowing is present on anteroposterior radiographs. Lateral and skyline radiographic views can also be helpful in confirming compartment disease severity¹¹¹.

Patients diagnosed with knee OA can exhibit a number of clinical symptoms which include recurrent joint pain (frequently activity-induced and persistent), stiffness, and swelling, reduced function, reduced range of motion, crepitus and deformity^{109,112}. Often, these symptoms will limit individuals and restrict participation in their daily activities¹¹³ and often makes them more dependent on others when it comes to walking, climbing stairs and performing lower extremity activities. Therefore, it is of utmost importance to identify treatment interventions that are geared towards minimizing pain, symptoms and function for patients with knee OA.

1.3.3 Management of medial compartment knee OA

Currently, there is no established cure for OA. However, a number of treatment modalities are available to aid patients in the management of associated pain and symptoms. Clinical guidelines outline non-surgical and surgical treatment interventions for patients with symptomatic knee OA^{1,114}. Available non-surgical interventions include physiotherapy, pharmacotherapy, foot orthoses, bracing, lifestyle modifications and activity management. These modalities typically target symptom management, but do not alter joint anatomy and benefits are not considered to be permanent. Surgical interventions include high tibial osteotomy (HTO), unicompartmental knee arthroplasty (UKA) and total knee arthroplasty (TKA). These modalities physically alter joint bony structures with permanent anatomical changes which modify risk factors that promote knee OA disease progression such as knee malalignment. Ultimately, selection of management method is decided upon mutually between the clinician and the patient based on the patient's personal characteristics, physical functional limitations, symptom severity and the current level of disease severity.

For patients in earlier stages of the disease, clinicians typically attempt non-surgical interventions before opting for surgery. However, patients who are at more progressed stages of the disease often display substantial mobility restrictions, severe pain, decreases in quality of life and severe degenerative changes in a single or multiple compartments of the knee warranting a referral to an orthopaedic surgeon. The surgeon may recommend a UKA or a TKA to replace the articular components of the joint or the surgeon may recommend a HTO to correct malalignment of the lower limb, a risk factor for progression of OA, while preserving the components of the joint. All three surgical procedures have shown evidence of long-term benefits for pain management, improved quality of life and mobility, but differ in terms of recovery time, invasiveness, potential adverse events, limitations in activity participation following surgery and costs associated with the procedures^{115–119}. Thus, selection of the appropriate surgical intervention must be done carefully in order to maximize the probability of successful outcomes following surgery.

1.3.4 Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy

Medial opening-wedge high tibial osteotomy is a surgical treatment for patients with varus alignment of the lower limb and medial compartment knee OA^{15,19,20,120}. The procedure corrects knee malalignment by shifting the weight-bearing load of the joint laterally to a more neutral position (usually slight valgus) and away from the affected portion of the knee (Figure 5) ¹²¹. The redistribution of load decreases the magnitude of both static (standing) and dynamic (during walking) loading in the medial compartment with the goal of relieving patient symptoms and slowing the progression of the disease^{95,122}.



Figure 5: Patient radiographs (A) before and (B) 12 months after HTO surgery. The yellow lines provide an estimate of the weight-bearing line (WBL) to display the shift to a more neutral position.

1.3.4.1 Preoperative Assessment

Similar to consideration in other surgical procedures, surgeons take a thorough patient history that identifies previous lower limb injuries or comorbidities that would contraindicate the patient from undergoing surgery and help ensure patient compliance during the post-operative period. A physical examination is then conducted to identify ligamentous instabilities of the joint and to provide additional information to aid the surgeon in establishing an appropriate treatment plan. Previous authors suggest the surgery is ideally performed on healthy young, active patients, where the level of joint degeneration is isolated to the medial compartment with associated varus alignment as determined by the mechanical axis angle^{19,111,121}. It is usually recommended to patients whose activities of daily living are typically more physically demanding. Inactive patients with tricompartmental disease, have complaints of rest/ night pain and those who are above 60 years of age may be better suited for a TKA¹²¹. Appropriate patient selection is considered crucial to maximize the likelihood that the procedure will be successful¹²⁰. Ideal patient criteria for medial opening wedge HTO is presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Ideal patient criteria for a medial opening wedge HTO.

Varus deformity of the lower limb
Pronounced degeneration in the medial compartment of the tibiofemoral joint
Moderate to high activity levels
Younger than 60 years of age
A certain degree of pain tolerance
Symptoms of instability are not considered a contra-indication

Radiographic assessment is considered an important component for preoperative planning^{20,120} with full-limb standing anteroposterior (AP) radiographs^{111,123}. Radiographs are used to determine the patient's MAA and anatomical axes of the femur and tibia, as well as identifying the degree of arthritic joint degeneration in both the medial and lateral compartments of the joint. Ultimately, the AP radiographs are used to calculate the suggested degree of surgical correction for the procedure. Using the technique described by Dudgale et al., the desired correction has the WBL shifting laterally to a maximum position of 62.5% of the medial-to-lateral tibial plateau width, otherwise known as the "Fujisawa point" ¹²⁴.

1.3.4.2 Surgical Procedure

The classic technique for a medial opening wedge HTO has previously been described by Amendola and Fowler^{20,120}. First, a guide pin is drilled medially into the proximal tibia at an angle approximately 3cm below the medial joint line. An oscillating saw is then used to make surgical cuts medially, anteriorly and posteriorly into the proximal tibia where both flexible and rigid osteotomes are used to complete the osteotomy and open the wedge to a predetermined correction size. Once achieved, the proximal and distal portions of the bone are fixed with an internal fixation plate using both cancellous and cortical screws. Bone graft or a synthetic substitute is typically used to fill in the wedge space for corrections larger than 7.5mm to assist with the bone healing process^{20,125}. The surgery is done under fluoroscopic control to ensure that the desired correction is accurately achieved and to avoid breaching the lateral tibial cortex when making the cut.

Often, surgeons will also perform knee arthroscopy preceding the HTO to investigate OA severity in both the medial and lateral compartments of the tibiofemoral joint. The degree of degeneration in the lateral compartment is important to consider as shifting the loading from the affected medial compartment to a lateral compartment that is equally as degenerated may affect the success or longevity of the procedure. In such cases, surgeons
must decide whether proceeding with the HTO is in the best interest for the patient. Arthroscopy also allows a full visual inspection of the joint entirely to examine the overall knee condition and to surgically treat unstable chondral or meniscal tissue if the surgeon feels that it is indicated¹²⁰.

Following surgery, patients are monitored during their rehabilitation and given early joint exercises. These exercises are geared towards retraining patient gait, improving their range of motion, managing pain and improving overall function. Patients undergo a progressive returning to weight-bearing protocol based on evidence of radiographic bone healing and subsidized pain.

1.3.4.3 Benefits of Medial Opening Wedge HTO

The most common surgical methods of HTO reported in the literature are the medial opening wedge HTO and the lateral closing wedge HTO. Between these techniques, medial opening wedge HTO has grown in popularity over the last few years¹²⁶. The method easily allows simultaneous bi-planar correction of the frontal and sagittal planes to correct limb alignment. The ability to increase the wedge opening gradually to the desired correction also allows for a more precise adjustment in both the frontal and sagittal planes and makes it easier to achieve smaller corrections (< 5 degrees) than in a lateral closing wedge HTO²⁰. Moreover, the lateral closing wedge HTO requires two cuts to be made in the bone which can make it difficult to achieve the proper correction size and to form opposing bone surfaces that easily articulate to facilitate bone healing¹²⁷.

1.3.4.4 Medial Opening Wedge HTO Success

Many studies have shown that medial opening wedge HTO is beneficial to the patient both clinically and biomechanically. Measures of pain, symptoms, function and quality of life have all been shown to improve significantly at one to five year follow-up assessments after the procedure^{27,28,122,128–130}. It has also been shown to reduce the level of loading on the medial compartment of the knee joint by significantly decreasing the degree of malalignment^{122,131} and reducing the external knee adduction moment during ambulation^{28,95,122,128,131} as well as other relevant kinematic and kinetic measures such as varus thrust⁹⁰ that promote disease progression. Overall, medial opening wedge HTO is suggested to be a successful procedure with survival rates reported as high as 98% after five years¹³², 90% after ten years¹³³ and 71% after 15 years¹³² following the HTO.

Despite the many benefits of HTO, there are a number of complications associated with the surgery. Reports of surgical complications vary between authors, ranging from 1% to 45% of cases^{24,126,134–139}. The most frequently reported are lateral cortex hinge fractures, hardware failure often resulting in loss of correction, delayed and non-union of the bone (insufficient healing of the fracture site after a given time lapse) and hardware failure. However, many authors suggest that the rate of complication is dependent on the type of internal fixation used for the procedure^{37,38,126,134,140,141}.

1.3.4.5 Weight-bearing and Return to Work after HTO

Postoperative care following medial opening wedge HTO typically involves a 2 week period of toe-touch or feather weight -bearing with limb stabilization from a tracker brace, followed by a progressive increase in weight-bearing to the surgeon's discretion based on radiographic healing of the bone and knee pain. The typical progression would have patients graduate to toe-touch or feather-touch weight-bearing, followed by protective (or partial, progressive) weight-bearing with crutches, to weight-bearing as tolerated and finally, full weight-bearing without crutches. The length of time for protected weight-bearing ranges between two and 12 weeks^{24–30,142}. A return to full weight-bearing without gait aid (i.e. crutches, cane, walker, etc.) after HTO surgery is dependent on the ability of the bone to consolidate enough to safely bear weight on the limb. This is a major concern for surgeons, as allowing patients to early weight-bear after HTO has the potential to increase complication rates if the plate does not provide enough stability. As a result, studies have shown that the return to weight-bearing process can be related to the type of fixation hardware used for the HTO³⁷. Optimized stable implant designs are therefore essential to warrant a safe earlier return to weight-bear.

Another important factor to consider associated with the time to return to weight-bearing is the time to return to work following the HTO. Time lost from employment and leisure accounts for an estimated 80% of the overall annual costs for OA in Canada¹⁴³. It is important for healthcare providers to target OA treatment interventions that minimize these productivity losses to society and help reduce the overall OA burden worldwide. Previous studies have reported that the time to return to work following medial opening wedge HTO ranges between three to six months^{142,144–146}. It is important that more stable plate designs are developed to allow patients to return to weight-bearing earlier, translating to a faster return to work which will benefit society as a whole.

1.3.4.6 Locking Plate vs. Non-Locking Plate Designs

Early studies suggest that an optimal balance between micro-motion and implant stability is needed to promote osteotomy healing^{147,148} by ensuring that the plate is not too stiff (suppresses micro-motion and healing¹⁴⁹) but is stable enough to evade non-union of the osteotomy site. Over the years, technological advancements have allowed manufacturers to design fixation plates that provide the required components to optimize HTO success.

Fixation plates used in HTO can generally be divided into non-locking and locking plate categories. Conventional non-locking plates were designed to provide stability to the

osteotomy with resistance to various types of loading³³. The force generated from the axial load is countered by the normal force of the plate (i.e. the product of the friction force between the plate and bone, and the force generated by screw torque) which forms a shear stress at the bone-plate interface. As the screw torque or the friction coefficient decreases however, bone-plate motion increases. Excessive motion results in mechanical environment that discourages primary or secondary bone healing. Furthermore, frictional forces that are overcome by axial loading rely on the axial stiffness of the screw most distal to the plate to maintain stability. The lack of axial control in non-locking screws forces it to be maintained by the bone at the bone-plate interface. Here, the bone is the load-determining factor in maintaining stability under compressive loads. The high mechanical shear stresses generated therefore leaves the bone vulnerable to failure under compressive load or susceptible to absorption of the bone that results in screw loosening.

Since, locking plate designs have been developed to address the mechanical pitfalls of conventional non-locking plates. Locking plates control the axial orientation of the screws to the plate, which improves bone-plate-screw stability³³. Locking screw-plate constructs act as fixed-angle devices that provide stability maintenance without relying on bone-plate friction and can convert shear stresses to compressive stresses when subject to loading. This improves the stability of the fixation as bone has a high resistance to compressive stress and a low tolerance for shear stress. The strength of the fixation also combines the strength of all bone-screw interfaces, as opposed to relying on the axial stiffness of a single screw (i.e. in non-locking plates), which further increases the stability of the implant¹⁵⁰. Additionally, threaded locking screws or interference washers provide angular and axial stability that optimize the rigidity of the fixation and optimized strain under loading conditions. The latter provides a favourable biological environment for secondary bone healing with callus formation, important for fractures located in the metaphysis (Schutz, 2003) such as the case in the proximal tibia after HTO. The lack of frictional forces between the bone and plate also allows blood supply under the plate to be preserved and is suggested to promote faster bone healing¹⁵¹.

Although all fixation plate designs have the same goal of maintaining correction size and promoting bone healing, the mechanical and biological benefits that locking plates provide are suggested to optimize rehabilitation outcomes after HTO surgery ^{27,127,152}. Many studies have evaluated different plate designs through biomechanics and clinical outcomes^{23,29,34–38,42,43,140,141,153,154}. General conclusions suggest that locking plates provide better stability for patients with a higher resistance to mechanical stresses³⁵ and optimized micro-motion at the osteotomy site²³. Locking plates are also suggested to allow patients to return to full weight-bearing and achieve consolidation of the osteotomy faster³⁷, improve clinical outcomes faster^{37,141}, and reduce the cases of delayed and non-union^{22,38}, hardware failure⁴¹, loss of correction^{41,155} and post-surgical lateral cortex fractures³⁸ than using a non-locking plate.

1.3.5 The Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®

The Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® is a new titanium fixation device designed with a locking construct (Figure 6), an anatomically curved body, a wider frame than previously introduced locking plates and screws that diverge proximally. To date, no studies have compared clinical outcomes between the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® and other more conventionally used plate designs. However, a few studies have examined the biomechanical differences between the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® and other implants.



Figure 6: A) The Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® design (Arthrex, Naples, FL) possesses a wide frame which lengthens the distance between fixation screws and provides additional stability. B) & C) Top and side views of the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® illustrate the anatomically curved body of the implant.

Studies have shown that the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® provides great stability under static loading, similar to other implant designs (Tomofix sm, Tomofix std, iBalance, Peek Power), while it provides superior stability under dynamic cyclic loading conditions, likely as a result of a wider frame and larger distance between fixation screws^{42,43}. Although these studies suggest that the maximum forces at moment of failure are considered too low to warrant full dynamic loading (full weight-bearing) immediately after the surgery for all the plate designs studied, the maximum force at failure for the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® is almost twice as high as other designs, suggesting that full dynamic loading may be achievable for patients much earlier and would require less healing of the osteotomy site to safely begin weight-bearing. Furthermore, a study using finite element modeling showed that at higher compressive loadings, the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® experiences low hardware stresses and small wedge micromotion which can be beneficial for fracture site healing¹⁵⁶.

Although there is currently only a small body of evidence to support the use of the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® design, the aforementioned biomechanical studies suggest that the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® is a great implant choice for patients who require a strong, stable locking construct for an early return to weight-bearing following the HTO surgery. A faster return to full weight-bearing could translate to faster improvements in clinical outcomes relating to pain, symptoms and quality of life for the patient, as well as faster returns to daily activity and sport. In turn, patients could return to work much earlier, which would provide socioeconomically benefit by reducing losses in productivity in the workforce.

1.3.6 Health Economics

Healthcare costs are rising at an alarming rate. The current economic climate requires a high level of accountability from budgetary decision-makers for expended healthcare dollars¹⁵⁷. As a result, decision-makers are seeking treatment interventions that provide the best quality of care for patients while minimizing dollars spent for the intervention. Programs are now requesting evidence-based research to support the economic efficiency of treatments to better judge the value for their money¹⁵⁸.

1.3.6.1 Economic Evaluation

Economic evaluation provides a framework to compare clinical and cost data simultaneously between competing interventions to assess value for money¹⁵⁹. In Canada, along with many other countries, economic analyses are a requirement for manufacturers wishing to make their products available as treatment options with Ontario's Health Insurance Plan¹⁶⁰. They are also a useful evaluative tool for decision-makers operating on a given budget in order to make choices concerning the deployment of finances for maximum health benefit.

1.3.6.2 Economic Burden of Osteoarthritis

Symptoms of OA typically do not resolve, and are associated with chronic pain that can persist for decades, resulting in a substantial number of health-care visits over a lifetime, which poses a large economic burden on healthcare systems. In industrialized countries such as Canada, the US, UK, Australia and France, OA accounts for anywhere between 1 and 2.5% of the country's gross national product¹⁶¹. In Canada alone, there is an average annual cost of \$12,200 (\$CAN) per patient with OA¹⁴³ with the annual economic burden of OA estimated to increase to \$405 billion dollars by 2020⁴⁹. As the burden of OA continues to grow around the world, health care systems are in critical need of identifying treatment interventions that limit OA progression at a minimal cost.

1.3.6.2.1 Cost-Effectiveness of Medial Opening Wedge HTO

Medial opening wedge HTO is a procedure that has been shown to benefit patients with varus alignment and medial compartment knee OA both clinically and biomechanically however, economic evaluation of the HTO procedure is an evolving area of research. Studies are beginning to examine the economic impact of medial opening wedge HTO in comparison to alternative treatment methods.

The first study to evaluate the cost-utility of HTO concluded that UKA is a more costeffective treatment method for medial compartment knee OA than HTO¹⁶² (Brown, 2010). A study that soon followed found results favoring the KineSpring® Knee Implant System (an implantable load absorber)¹⁶³. However, the authors from this study claim to report an ICER when the values reported are in fact average cost-effectiveness ratios (ACERs). This incorrect use of terminology can lead to misinterpretation of results¹⁶⁴ and inaccurate conclusions.

More recently, two studies have investigated the cost-utility of HTO compared to both UKA and total knee arthroplasty (TKA) for younger patients with medial compartment knee OA^{118,119}. According to the results of these studies, HTO is the most cost-effective treatment for patients below 60 years of age and the authors strongly support the use of HTO as a first line treatment method for this younger patient population.

The aforementioned studies provide some evidence to suggest that HTO is a costeffective treatment intervention for patients who are varus aligned and with medial compartment knee OA. However, no studies have been conducted to compare economic impact of using different internal hardware devices when performing a medial opening wedge HTO surgery. Locking plates have been suggested to provide functional and patient-important benefits when compared to non-locking plates for medial opening wedge HTO^{35,36,43} and are thought to reduce the number of post-operative complications (i.e. non-union) that can result in revision surgery^{37,38,141}. Patients are also expected to return to full weight-bearing sooner, and therefore productivity losses may be lessened by allowing patients to return to work sooner. In both cases, costs associated with the surgery can be minimized. However, locking plates and screws are generally more expensive than non-locking designs, and the bulkiness of locking plates can be irritating to the patient requiring surgical plate removal^{29,40,44} further increasing the costs associated with the procedure. Cost-effectiveness analysis is therefore warranted to justify using locking plates for medial opening wedge HTO.

Chapter 2

2 Methods

2.1 Study Design

We conducted a retrospective analysis using prospectively collected data from patients who had undergone medial opening wedge HTO at the Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic between July 2005 and June 2015, performed by one fellowship-trained orthopaedic surgeon (JRG). All surgeries were completed using either a locking (Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®) or a non-locking (Arthrex Puddu Plate®) internal fixation plate. Patients at earlier time points of the study received the non-locking plate. Availability of the locking plate in 2009 resulted in a shift in clinical practice where most patients received the locking plate. The study was approved by the University of Western Ontario's Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects. All patients had provided informed consent prior to study enrollment to have their data entered into a research database.

2.2 Eligibility Criteria

We included patients who underwent a medial opening wedge HTO for mechanical varus alignment and had been diagnosed with knee OA according to the American College of Rheumatology classification criteria¹⁰⁹ affecting primarily the medial compartment of the tibiofemoral joint. We did not exclude patients with evidence of lateral compartment knee OA as long as the patient's symptoms and radiographic severity of OA was more pronounced in the medial compartment. We excluded patients who had a combined HTO and anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstruction, as well as those who received a bilateral HTO. We also excluded patients that underwent a revision ACL reconstruction surgery on the same limb or an HTO on the contralateral limb within 12 months following surgery.

2.3 Intervention

2.3.1 Operative Procedure

Preoperative hip-knee-ankle full-limb standing anteroposterior radiographic views were used to calculate the desired correction size for the osteotomy using the method described by Dugdale et al.¹²⁴ This technique suggests a shift in the weight-bearing line to 62.5% of the medial-to-lateral tibial plateau width. Other considerations for preoperative templating were the condition of the articular cartilage in the lateral compartment and the degree of correction required to achieve neutral alignment.

The HTO was performed using a medial opening wedge technique similar to the procedure described by Fowler et al.²⁰ Fluoroscopy was used to insert a guide pin and osteotomes, both flexible and rigid, were used to perform the osteotomy. Once the tibia was opened to the desired width, fluoroscopy was again used to confirm correction size and limb alignment. If necessary, adjustments were made to the posterior tibial slope to provide address sagittal instability. One of two plate designs was used as an internal implant: a 4-hole Arthrex Puddu Plate® non-locking plate (Arthrex, Naples, FL, USA) or an Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® locking plate (Arthrex, Naples, FL, USA). Cortical and cancellous bone screws were used to fixate the osteotomy both proximally and distally and confirmed using fluoroscopy. For corrections larger than 7.5mm, cancellous bone allograft was used to fill in the osteotomy gap.

2.3.2 Post-operative Care

Following surgery, the operative limb was placed in a hinged knee brace. At this time, patients were instructed to feather-touch weight-bear (WB) with the assistance of crutches for a minimum of two weeks. Once the patient showed clinical and radiographic evidence of osteotomy healing, they progressed to protective WB.The decision to

progress the weight-bearing status of the patient during rehabilition was decided by the surgeon using radiographic evidence of osteotomy healing (i.e. the extent of consolidation on x-ray), perceived stability of the fixation device and the level of pain or discomfort reported by the patient during ambulation.

Patients were also given a progressive rehabilitation protocol to allow them to reestablish full range of motion, strength and function, in addition to reducing swelling, and avoiding joint contracture and muscle atrophy from disuse. Patients began this program at three weeks postoperative with lighter exercises and progressed in exercise difficulty until they exhibited a normal gait pattern at the discretion of the physiotherapist. All patients followed the same rehabilitation protocol with slight modifications if deemed necessary.

All patients returned to clinic for a follow-up visit with the surgeon at two and six weeks and three, six and 12 months after surgery. Patients who experienced intraoperative or post-operative complications (i.e. infection, delayed union, etc.) were reviewed as needed.

2.4 Radiographic Assessment

A full-limb standing digital radiograph of the lower limb was obtained for each patient at baseline, three, six and 12 months following surgery. Patients stood with patellae centered over their femoral condyles with feet pointed straight ahead. The position controls for effects of foot rotation on alignment measures that could result in inaccurate frontal plane images¹⁶⁵. Additional imaging was taken for patients who displayed delayed bone healing and/or suspected complication to monitor consolidation more closely.

Baseline radiographs were assessed using a customized computer software program (HTO Pro; Wolf Orthopaedic Biomechanics Laboratory, London, Ontario, Canada)⁹³. Anteroposterior radiographs were measured to obtain the preoperative mechanical axis

angle (MAA) and to assess OA severity in both the medial and lateral tibiofemoral compartments. The MAA was defined as the angle generated between the mechanical axis of the femur and the mechanical axis of the tibia^{91,166}. In other words, it is the angle formed by the lines connecting the center of the hip to center of the knee, and the center of the knee to the center of the ankle. The center of the hip was characterized as the center of a circular outline positioned over the femoral head. The center of the knee was characterized as the midpoint of a line drawn between the peaks of the tibial spines, extrapolated inferiorly to the surface of the intercondylar eminence. The center of the ankle was characterized as the midpoint between the fibula and tibia at the height of the tibial plafond. A negative MAA value indicated varus alignment. Previous studies conducted in our lab have shown excellent reliability for the MAA when using the HTOPro program $(ICC_{2,1} = 0.97)^{93}$. Joint degeneration in the medial and lateral compartments of the tibiofemoral joint was measured using the Kellgren-Lawrence rating scale¹¹⁰. Although the reliability of reporting the Kellgren-Lawrence grade using HTOPro has not yet been reported, evaluators were given original atlases of individual radiographic features for Kellgren-Lawrence grading of knee OA. These guidelines have proven to be reliable in measuring the severity of knee OA.

2.5 Outcome Measures

2.5.1 Return to full weight-bearing

We defined time to return to full weight-bearing as the time to discontinuation of gait aid use (i.e. crutches, cane, or walker), as documented in the medical record. A single reviewer (CAP) reviewed patient clinic follow-up reports from each follow up visit time point up to 12 months following the HTO. Identified weight-bearing status terms included non-weight-bearing, toe-touch (or touch-down, feather-touch) weight-bearing, partial (or progressive, protective) weight-bearing, weight-bearing as tolerated and full weight-bearing. Discontinuation of gait aid use (i.e. crutch, cane, or walker) was outlined as surgeon instruction to wean off of crutches (or slowly wean off) or a report that the patient was ambulating without the use of crutches (or other gait aid). A weight-bearing status timeline was created for each patient to determine the total time it took for each patient to return to full weight-bearing without use of a gait aid. The total time to return to weight-bearing was expressed in weeks.

If the time to return to full weight-bearing was specified by the surgeon, the time from surgery to that appointment date was attributed as the total time to return to weight-bearing for the patient. For patients whose reports did not explicitly provide a value in weeks, we made assumptions to determine total return to weight-bearing time. Patients were given a time to return to full weight-bearing one week past the date of the follow-up visit if they were instructed to wean off of their crutches and were fully weight-bearing by their next appointment. Similarly, patients instructed to slowly wean off crutches were attributed a time to return to weight-bearing two weeks later than the date of the follow-up visit. A patient who was described as having already been off crutches was attributed a return to weight-bearing time one week earlier than said appointment as a conservative measure. If the surgeon specified exactly how many weeks earlier that they were off crutches, that value was assigned to the patient.

In cases where the patient missed an appointment visit and the time to return to weightbearing was unclear, a conservative measure of worst possible outcome was attributed to that patient. For example, if a patient was still on crutches at 10 weeks, was not seen at 3 months, but was off crutches at a 4 month appointment visit, the given outcome value was one week earlier than the 4 month appointment date (i.e. 16 weeks).

2.5.2 Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score

The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) is a 42-item selfadministered knee and OA-specific questionnaire that addresses five domains of health: pain (9 items), other symptoms (7 items), function during activities of daily living (17 items), function during sport and recreational activities (5 items), and quality of life related to the knee (4 items). The tool uses a five-point ordinal scale for each item and generates a standardized mean value score to represent each of the five domains ranging from 0 (worst outcome) to 100 (best outcome). The KOOS has been shown to exhibit excellent test-retest reliability in each domain (range 0.75-0.93), face validity, construct validity and responsiveness to change for individuals with knee OA and ligamentous injuries^{167,168}. A change of ten points in a given KOOS domain is considered to be clinically meaningful¹⁶⁹.

2.5.3 Cost

2.5.3.1 Surgical Costs

All direct costs associated with the HTO procedure were reported using the average procedure cost from the Ontario Case Costing Initiative¹⁷⁰ in addition to costs associated with any additional surgeries (e.g. revisions, hardware removals, irrigation and debridement for infection). These costs included operating room (OR) costs, equipment used, and other medical tests performed during the procedure, as well as the total length of stay in the hospital (outpatient or inpatient) following surgery. Surgeon and anaesthesiologist billing fees were obtained through the Ontario Ministry of Health Schedule of Benefits¹⁷¹. The individual costs for the locking (Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®) and non-locking (Arthrex Puddu Plate®) plates and their associated fixation screws were obtained from our hospital's cost report data.

2.5.3.2 Healthcare Resource Use

To account for possible postoperative complications, we recorded any additional healthcare resource use for 12 months following the HTO surgery by reviewing patient clinic charts and electronic hospital records. All clinic consultations, follow-up visits, emergency room visits and hospitalization, diagnostic imaging and laboratory tests

performed and additional procedures performed for postoperative complications were recorded. Costs were attributed using the Ontario Ministry of Health Schedule of Benefits¹⁷¹.

Additionally, we recorded patient time to return to work. The time to return to work was defined as the time loss of employment, retirement or homemaking following surgery. The total time was determined in one of two ways. First, if patients returned to the clinic for a follow up visit during the study period, they were asked to indicate their employment status at the time of surgery, time off work from paid employment (or retirement, homemaking activities, etc.) as a result of the HTO, change in employment status (i.e. modified or restricted duties), and level of activity of employment. If patients did not return to the clinic during the study period, we reviewed the surgeon dictated clinic follow-up reports up to 12 months following the HTO to identify the patient's occupation and references of date to return to employment. The total time was reported as either below 3 months (with specification of total time), 3-4 months, 5-6 months, 7-8 months, more than 8 months (with specification of total time) or "I did not return to work".

The 2015 average Canadian wage reported by Statistics Canada was used to account for time off employment¹⁷². We assigned the current value of minimum wage in Ontario to account for time off for patients who were retired, or who lost time from home making activities.

We estimated the total cost for each individual patient over the study period. All costs were reported in 2016 Canadian dollars.

2.6 Data Analysis

We used descriptive statistics to describe the demographic and clinical characteristics for each group. We report means and standard deviation (SD) for all continuous measures (age, height, mass, body mass index (BMI), mechanical axis angle (MAA)), and frequencies and proportions for categorical variables (sex, Kellgren-Lawrence grade and American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA)) (Table1). All statistical measurements were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23.0 (IBM SPSS Statistics v 23; IBM Corp, Armonk, New York, USA).

2.6.1 Objective 1

We conducted an independent t-test to compare the mean between group difference in time to return to full weight-bearing with 95% confidence intervals around the estimate.

2.6.2 Objective 2

We calculated KOOS change scores from baseline to six months after surgery and presented the mean and standard deviation (SD) by group for the total KOOS and for each KOOS subdomain. We used the six-month time point as our outcome measure since stability differences between the plates could affect patient-important outcomes shorter term; however, most patients have fully recovered regardless of the plate used by 12 months after surgery. We compared the mean between group difference in change score using an independent t-test and report 95% confidence intervals around the estimates.

For objectives 1 and 2, we tested the assumptions for independent samples t-test which include homogeneity of variance, random independent samples, and normality. Normality was tested by plotting a histogram for each outcome and all graphs were assessed for

kurtosis and skewness. A Mann-Whitney U non-parametric test was performed if the assumption of normality was not met.

2.6.3 Objective 3

2.6.3.1 Economic Analysis

We conducted a cost-effectiveness analysis from the healthcare payer and societal perspectives. The healthcare payer perspective includes the direct costs from healthcare resources consumed including the HTO surgery, any additional procedures (e.g. revision surgeries), diagnostic testing and inpatient hospitalizations. The societal perspective includes these same costs along with out-of-pocket patient costs (e.g. hyaluronic acid or corticosteroid injections) and indirect costs such as time off employment, retirement and homemaking activities as a result of the surgery. To capture all costs associated with return to work and additional surgical procedures, we included all costs up to 12 months following surgery and used the KOOS total change score from baseline to 12 months postoperative as our effectiveness measure.

2.6.3.2 Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio

We calculated the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) to consider the value of using the locking plate. The ICER is defined as the ratio between the incremental cost and the incremental effect (change in KOOS).

2.6.3.3 Net Benefit Regression

We also estimated the cost-effectiveness of the locking plate using the net benefit regression (NBR) framework¹⁷³, a statistical tool that considers both the incremental cost and effect of an intervention in addition to the maximum acceptable amount one is

willing-to-pay (WTP) in order to achieve one additional unit improvement in effect. In this framework, an intervention is deemed more cost-effective than the existing treatment if:

$$INB = WTP * \Delta E - \Delta C > 0$$
[1]

where INB represents the incremental net benefit, WTP is the willingness-to-pay value, ΔE is the incremental effect and ΔC is the incremental cost.

We conducted two individual NBR models to evaluate from both the payer and societal perspectives. The WTP values used varied between \$0 and \$2,000. The following covariates were included in our models: age, sex, BMI, comorbidities and baseline MAA.

We tested the assumptions for multiple linear regression which include a linear relationship between independent and dependent variables, multivariate normality, limited multicollinearity, no auto-correlation and homoscedasticity. Linear relationships were assessed with scatter plots. Multivariate normality was assessed by plotting histograms and all graphs were assessed for kurtosis and skewness. Homoscedasticity was assessed by plotting predicted values against the observed values and observing the proximity of points to the prediction line.

2.6.3.4 Uncertainty

To characterize the statistical uncertainty, we presented 95% CIs around our estimates of the incremental net benefit (INB) and with a cost-effectiveness acceptability curve (CEAC)¹⁷⁴. The CEAC provides a functional representation of probability that the treatment is cost-effective at various WTP values.

2.6.3.5 Sensitivity Analysis

We conducted one-way sensitivity analyses on the variables that were considered to have the most uncertainty because of the assumptions required to calculate the cost: 1) the dollar value for retired or home making time (ranging from \$0 per hour to \$11.25 per hour); 2) adding seven weeks to the return to weight-bearing time for patients where we were unable to collect a return to work time and using this value as their time to return to work, as seven weeks was the mean time to return to work from return to full weightbearing in our sample; 3) combining the adjustments of sensitivity analyses 1 and 2.

2.6.4 Missing Data

We used Multiple Imputation methods to impute missing 6 and 12 month KOOS total change score data. A pooled score was generated from 5 individual imputations to provide a best estimate value. Covariates including age, sex, BMI, comorbidities, baseline MAA and baseline total KOOS were used in the model to increase the accuracy of the imputed values.

Chapter 3

3 Results

3.1 Patient Flow

We screened 502 HTO procedures that were captured in our database. Of these, 249 met the inclusion criteria and were included in the present analysis. From this sample, 144 patients underwent a medial opening wedge HTO using the locking plate, while 105 patients received the non-locking plate (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Participant flow through the study. Asterisk represents a smaller sample size for the costeffectiveness analysis from the societal perspective (n = 106 locking plate, n = 58 non-locking plate).

3.2 Demographics and Clinical Characteristics

Baseline demographics and clinical characteristics were similar between groups (Table 2). Patients were typically male, middle-aged and categorized as overweight from their BMI. Patients were varus aligned as defined by their MAA and had large correction sizes. Most had advanced osteoarthritic degeneration in the medial compartment of the tibiofemoral joint, however, the degree of lateral compartment joint degeneration was slightly higher in the locking plate group. According to the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score, most patients were considered to have mild systemic disease.

Domographia/alinical abarratoristia	Group 1: Locking Plate	Group 2:
Demographic/chincar characteristic	(n = 144)	(n = 105)
Sex, no. (%)		
Male	108 (75.0)	79 (75.2)
Age, years	48.9 ± 8.0	46.7 ± 8.6
Height, cm	175.6 ± 8.3	175.7 ± 9.0
Mass, kg	92.5 ± 15.3	91.0 ± 17.0
Body mass index (BMI), kg/m ²	30.1 ± 5.0	29.4 ± 4.4
Operative limb left, no. (%)	77 (53.5)	52 (49.5)
Mechanical axis angle, degrees ^{<i>a</i>}	-8.5 ± 2.8	-8.1 ± 3.4
Mean correction size \pm SD (mm)	11.9 ± 2.7	12.3 ± 3.0
Medial Compartment K/L Grade, no. (%) ^b		
1	11 (7.6)	9 (8.6)
2	48 (33.3)	28 (26.7)
3	61 (42.4)	42 (40.0)
4	21 (14.6)	23 (21.9)
Lateral Compartment K/L Grade, no. (%) ^b		
1	25 (17.4)	53 (50.5)
2	82 (56.9)	31 (29.5)
3	31 (21.5)	10 (9.5)
4	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
American Society of Anesthesiologists		
score, no. $(\%)^{c}$		
1	47 (32.6)	37 (35.2)
2	83 (57.6)	54 (51.4)
3	14 (9.7)	14 (13.3)

Table 2 : Baseline demographics and clinical characteristics $(n = 249)^*$.

*Values are reported as means with standard deviations unless otherwise specified ^a A negative mechanical axis value indicates varus alignment ^b Kellgren-Lawrence (K/L) grade of osteoarthritis severity

^c American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status classification system: 1 = healthy, normal patient; 2 = patient with mild systemic disease; 3 = patient with severe systemic disease

3.3 Surgical Characteristics

Diagnostic knee arthroscopy was performed on 246 (98.8%) patients. A tibial tubercle osteotomy (TTO) was performed on 130 (52.2%) patients in order to maintain patellar height¹⁷⁵. Cancellous bone allograft was used to fill the osteotomy for 238 (95.6%) patients. Substitute bone grafts used included: cancellous autograft for two patients, demineralized bone matrix for one patient and OsteoSet bone graft for one patient. The osteotomy was left unfilled in 7 cases (2.8%). Plate removal from a previous HTO on the contralateral limb was performed on nine (3.6%) patients (3 non-locking, 6 locking) during the procedure and removal of TTO hardware from a previous HTO was performed on two (0.8%) patients (2 non-locking). The surgery was an inpatient procedure for most cases (228 patients, 91.6%).

Slight between-group differences were seen in the number of concomitant tibial tubercle osteotomy (TTO) surgeries performed (91 patients, 63% locking plate; 39 patients, 37% non-locking plate), the number of outpatient cases (19 patients, 13% locking plate; 2 patients, 2% non-locking) and the number of osteotomies that were left unfilled, with no bone graft (1 patients, 1% locking plate; 6 patients, 6% non-locking). These most likely represent slight changes in clinical practice of JRG.

3.4 Surgical and Post-operative Complications

A hematoma was noted in 13 cases. Deep infection was identified in three patients requiring an irrigation and debridement surgical procedure to be performed. One patient experienced isolated anterior compartment syndrome (likely related to combined TTO), which was treated surgically with a fasciotomy. A pulmonary embolism was confirmed for one patient with chest radiographs and was treated with thrombolytic medication. A deep vein thrombosis (DVT) was documented for one patient through ultrasound and was treated with an anticoagulant. Partial implant failure was document in the charts of 12 patients where ten patients had one broken screw and two patients had two broken screws. A partial loss of correction was identified for one patient. One patient experienced non-union of the osteotomy site that required a revision osteotomy surgery to be performed. A total of 19 patients complained of irritation at site of osteotomy following the surgery and had the hardware surgically removed within the first 12 months postoperatively. No patients experienced neurovascular injuries or cardiac complications. Adverse event rates are summarized in Table 3.

Complication	Group 1: Locking Plate	Group 2: Non-locking Plate
Complication	(n = 144)	(n = 105)
Hematoma	3 (2.1%)	9 (8.6%)
Deep infection	3 (2.1%)	0 (0.0%)
Compartment syndrome	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)
Pulmonary embolism	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)
Deep vein thrombosis	1 (0 79/)	0 (0 0 0)
(documented)	1(0.7%)	0 (0.0%)
Hardware failure		
1 broken screw	3 (2.1%)	7 (6.7%)
2 broken screws	1 (0.7%)	1 (1.0%)
Partial loss of correction	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)
Non-union/collapse	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.0%)
Hardware removal	11 (8.3%)	8 (7.6%)
Neurovascular injury	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Cardiac complications	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)

Table 3:	: Adverse	event rates	within	first 12	months	after	HTO	(n = 249)), *
I abic o	. I tu vei se	crent rates	*******		monuns	ance			,.

*Values are reported as frequencies with proportions

3.5 Outcome Measures

3.5.1 Objective 1

There was a statistically significant difference between treatment groups in the time to return to full weight-bearing with discontinuation of gait aid (mean difference 6.1 weeks; 95% CI 4.5, 7.6), with a faster return to weight-bearing for the locking plate group (Table 4, Figure 8).

3.5.2 Objective 2

Although the KOOS total change score and subdomain change scores were slightly higher in the locking plate group from baseline to six months after surgery, no significant between-group differences were found (Table 4, Figure 9). Large improvements were seen for both groups from baseline to six months in the total KOOS and all subdomains, above the minimal clinically important difference (MCID) of ten points¹⁷⁶. Missing 6-month data values were imputed for 17 patients in the locking plate group (11.8%) and 11 patients in the non-locking plate group (10.5%).

		Time	e (weeks)		
Ou	tcome	Locking Plate	Non-locking Plate	p-value	
		(n = 144)	(n = 105)		
Time to r	eturn to WB	10.9 ± 5.8	17.0 ± 6.5	< 0.01‡	
KOOS		Treatm	ent Group		
Outcome (range 0 – 100)	Time point	Locking Plate (n = 144)	Non-locking Plate (n = 105)	Mean Difference ^{<i>c</i>} (95% CI)	p-value
Pain	Baseline	52.0 ± 19.9	52.6 ± 18.5		
	6-month	70.1 ± 17.7	68.5 ± 17.6		
	Change Score ^a	18.3 ± 20.7	15.9 ± 20.6	-2.4 (-8.1, 3.4)	0.42
Other	Baseline	49.9 ± 17.8	52.8 ± 19.9		
Symptoms	6-month	69.6 ± 16.5	65.7 ± 20.5		
	Change Score ^{<i>a</i>}	18.0 ± 20.5	15.4 ± 20.4	-2.6 (-8.3, 3.1)	0.37
ADL	Baseline	60.9 ± 21.0	61.8 ± 19.8		
	6-month	77.8 ± 18.0	74.2 ± 17.5		
	Change Score ^{<i>a</i>}	17.7 ± 22.5	12.6 ± 20.3	-5.0 (-11.1, 1.0)	0.10
Sport and	Baseline	29.1 ± 22.8	28.0 ± 22.3		
Recreation	6-month	46.5 ± 24.1	43.1 ± 24.2		
	Change Score ^{<i>a</i>}	17.6 ± 28.5	14.5 ± 26.1	-3.1 (-10.8, 4.5)	0.42
Quality of life	Baseline	30.2 ± 19.8	25.0 ± 30.1		
	6-month	49.0 ± 22.0	43.1 ± 24.2		
	Change Score ^{<i>a</i>}	18.4 ± 23.5	16.4 ± 22.2	-2.0 (-8.4, 4.4)	0.55
KOOS Total	Baseline	50.9 ± 18.8	50.3 ± 17.2		
	6-month	68.3 ± 16.9	64.7 ± 17.1		
	Change Score ^{<i>a</i>}	17.9 ± 20.4	14.4 ± 19.1	-3.5 (-9.1, 2.0)	0.21

Table 4: Time to return to weight-bearing and patient reported outcome measures (KOOS) for all patients $(n = 244)^*$.

*Values are reported as means with standard deviations ^{*a*} The change in KOOS score between baseline and 6 months after surgery ^{*b*} A positive mean difference favors the locking plate treatment group

 c A negative mean difference favors the locking plate treatment group

 $p < 0.05, p \le 0.001$

Abbreviations: KOOS = Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score, ADL = Activities of Daily Living, CI = confidence interval, WB = weight-bearing







Figure 9: Mean Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) total and subdomain change scores from baseline to six months postoperative (with 95% confidence intervals) for patients undergoing a medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy with a locking or non-locking internal fixation plate.

3.5.3 Objective 3

There was a statistically significant difference between groups in mean costs from the healthcare payer perspective favoring the non-locking plate group (Table 5). A statistically significant difference was also seen from the societal perspective, however favoring the locking plate group. The mean between group difference in effect (KOOS change score) was small and not statistically significant, but favored the locking plate group. Missing 12-month data values were imputed for 19 patients in the locking plate group (13.2%) and 12 patients in the non-locking plate group (11.4%).

3.5.3.1 ICER

The ICER was \$472.00 per one point improvement in the total KOOS change score for the healthcare payer perspective (Table 5), translating to an additional \$4,720 per patient for a clinically important improvement of ten KOOS points compared to patients who receive a non-locking plate. The ICER was -\$3892.63 for the societal perspective, indicating a cost saving of \$3892.63 per additional one point improvement in total KOOS change score in favor of the locking plate group. The negative incremental cost and positive incremental effect from the ICER suggest that, when incorporating indirect costs, the locking plate costs less for a better outcome compared to the non-locking plate.

3.5.3.2 Net Benefit Regression

From the healthcare payer perspective, the incremental net benefit (INB) was negative for WTP values <\$1,000, indicating that the locking plate is not cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate below this WTP threshold (Table 6). At a WTP \ge \$1,000, the positive INB indicates that the locking plate is cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate at this threshold. From a societal perspective, the INB was positive for all WTP suggesting that the locking plate is cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate.

3.5.3.2.1 Uncertainty

From the healthcare payer perspective, the 95% confidence intervals (CI) around our estimate widen as WTP increases and at WTP values \geq \$1,000, the lower bounds of the 95% CIs remain negative. The larger confidence intervals suggest a higher degree of uncertainty surrounding the cost-effectiveness of the locking plate as one is willing to pay more. From the societal perspective, the lower bounds of the CI remain positive up to a WTP of \$500, however become negative at values >\$500 and these CIs continue to widen as WTP increases also suggesting uncertainty.

To visually display this uncertainty, the probability of cost-effectiveness for the locking plate is displayed on the cost-effectiveness acceptability curve (CEAC) (Figure 10). From the healthcare payer perspective, the CEAC suggests that even at a WTP of \$1,000 for a one point improvement in total KOOS change score (i.e. \$10,000 for a clinically meaningful improvement), the probability that the locking plate is cost-effective is 50% (Figure 10A). From a societal perspective, the CEAC suggests with 99% certainty that the locking plate is cost-effective at a WTP value of \$0 (Figure 10B). As WTP increases however, this certainty slowly declines as a result of cost savings with minimal improvement in effect (Fenwick, 2004).

Table 5: Cost and effect outcomes*.

Healthcare pa	yer $(n = 249)$, $CL = 144$, P	UD = 105				
Plate	Cost ^{*,a}	A Cost	CI, p-value	Effect ^{*,b}	A Effect	CI, p-value	ICER
Locking	6876.74	+755.2	(304.2, 1206.3),	21.32	+1.60	(-6.1, 2.9),	+472.00
Non-locking	6121.49		0.01	19.72		0.49	
Societal (n = 1	64, CL = 100	5, PUD = 58					
Plate	Cost ^{*,a}	A Cost	CI, p-value	Effect* ^{,b}	A Effect	CI, p-value	ICER
Locking	23894.88	-6228.21	(-10549.7, -1906.7), <0.01‡	21.32	+1.60	(-6.1, 2.9),	-3892.63
Non-locking	30123.09			19.72		0.49	
*Values are repor	ted as means						
^a 2016 Canadian (dollars.						

^b Total change Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) between baseline and 12 months

† p < 0.05, ‡ p < 0.001 Abbreviations: ICER = Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio, CI = confidence interval

Table 6: Net benefit regression results.

	Healthcare payer**			Societal**		
WTP*	Incremental net benefit	95% CI	p-value	Incremental net benefit	95% CI	p-value
0	-812.26 (243.34)	-1291.6 to -332.9	<0.001‡	5232.19 (2127.32)	1029.9 to 9434.5	0.015
250	-605.15 (654.95)	-1895.4 to 685.1	0.356	5599.82 (2324.64)	1007.8 to 10191.9	0.017
500	-398.05 (1236.74)	-2834.5 to 2038.4	0.748	5967.46 (2761.42)	512.6 to 11422.3	0.032
750	-190.94(1833.28)	-3802.5 to 3420.6	0.917	6335.09 (3345.13)	-272.8 to 12943.0	0.060
1000	16.16 (2433.74)	-4778.4 to 4810.7	0.995	6702.72 (4012.16)	-1222.8 to 14628.3	0.097
1250	223.26 (3035.80)	-5757.3 to 6203.9	0.941	7070.35 (4727.36)	-2268.0 to 16408.7	0.137
1500	430.38 (3638.67)	-6737.9 to 7598.6	0.906	7437.98 (5471.88)	-3371.1 to 18247.1	0.176
1750	637.48 (4242.00)	-7719.4 to 8994.3	0.881	7805.61 (6235.22)	-4511.4 to 20122.6	0.213
2000	844.59 (4845.62)	-8701.4 to 10390.6	0.862	8173.24 (7011.24)	-5676.6 to 22023.2	0.246
* WTP for a on	e-noint improvement on the KOC	S total change score from ha	seline to 12 n	onths		

** Incremental net benefit with standard error (SE)

† p < 0.05, ‡ p \leq 0.01 Abbreviations: WTP = willingness-to-pay, CI = confidence interval



Figure 10: Cost-effectiveness acceptability curves (CEAC) displaying the probability that the locking plate is cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate from A) the healthcare payer's perspective and B) the societal perspective, over a range of willingness to pay values for an additional one-point improvement in the Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score total change score (baseline to 12 months).

3.5.3.3 Sensitivity Analysis

Results from our sensitivity analysis suggest that, from the societal perspective, cost savings are 1) \$3309.91, 2) \$3747.08 and 3) \$3595.41 per one point improvement of KOOS total change score after adjusting for 1) the dollar value for retired or home making time at 0\$ per hour, 2) time to return to work = time to return to weight bearing plus seven weeks, and 3) both 1) and 2) (Table 7).

Similarly, the sensitivity analysis provided comparable results when conducting net benefit regression. In each of the three sensitivity conditions, the INB was positive for all WTP values indicating that the locking plate is cost-effective compared to non-locking plate (Table 8). As WTP increases however, the 95% CIs around our estimate widen suggesting uncertainty in the cost-effectiveness of the locking plate as one is willing to pay more. Visual display of CEACs indicates that at a WTP of \$0, there is between 97% (Figure 11A) and 99% (Figures 11B and 11C) certainty that the locking plate is cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate with a slow decline in certainty as the WTP increases.
Societal Sensitivity Analysis 1 (n = 164, CL = 106, PUD = 58)							
Plate	Cost* ^{,a}	Δ Cost	CI, p-value	Effect* ^{,b}	Δ Effect	CI, p-value	ICER
Locking	23679.56	-5295.86	(-9873.7, -716.5),	21.32	+1.60	(-6.1, 2.9),	-3309.91
Non-locking	28975.42		0.02*	19.72		0.49	
Societal Sensitivity Analysis 2 (n = 249, CL = 144, PUD = 105)							
Plate	Cost* ^{,a}	Δ Cost	CI, p-value	Effect* ^{,b}	Δ Effect	CI, p-value	ICER
Locking	24214.74	-5995.32	(-8897.5, -3093.1),	21.32	+1.60	(-6.1, 2.9),	-3747.08
Non-locking	30210.06		< 0.01‡	19.72		0.49	
Societal Sensitivity Analysis 3 (n = 249, CL = 144, PUD = 105)							
Plate	Cost*' ^a	Δ Cost	CI, p-value	Effect* ^{,b}	Δ Effect	CI, p-value	ICER
Locking	24056.14	-5752.66	(-8760.0, -2745.3),	21.32	+1.60	(-6.1, 2.9),	-3595.41
Non-locking	29808.81		<0.01‡	19.72		0.49	

Table 5: Sensitivity analyses cost and effect outcomes*.

*Values are reported as means ^{*a*} 2016 Canadian dollars. ^{*b*} Total change Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) between baseline and 12 months

† p < 0.05, ‡ $p \le 0.001$

Abbreviations: ICER = Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio, CI = confidence interval

	Societal Sensitivity Analysis 1 (n = 164, CL = 106, PUD = 58)					
WTP*	Incremental net benefit	95% CI	p-value			
0	4238.26 (2240.09)	-186.6 to 8663.1	0.060			
250	4609.59 (2419.84)	-170.3 to 9389.5	0.059			
500	4980.91 (2832.09)	-613.3 to 10575.1	0.081			
750	5352.24 (3393.11)	-1350.1 to 12054.6	0.117			
1000	5723.56 (4041.43)	-2259.4 to 13706.5	0.159			
1250	6094.89 (4741.36)	-3270.7 to 15460.4	0.201			
1500	6466.22 (5473.14)	-4344.8 to 17277.2	0.239			
1750	6837.54 (6225.55)	-5459.7 to 19134.8	0.274			
2000	7208.87 (6991.93)	-6602.2 to 21019.9	0.304			
	Societal Sensitivity Analysis 2 (n = 249, CL = 144, PUD = 105)					
WTP*	Incremental net benefit	95% CI	p-value			
0	5446.01 (1480.25)	2529.9 to 8362.3	<0.001‡			
250	5653.11 (1621.99)	2457.8 to 8848.5	0.001‡			
500	5860.22 (1949.72)	2019.3 to 9701.2	0.003†			
750	6067.32 (2388.05)	1362.8 to 10771.8	0.012†			
1000	6274.43 (2887.03)	586.9 to 11961.9	0.031*			
1250	6481.53 (3420.22)	-256.4 to 13219.5	0.059			
1500	6688.64 (3973.88)	-1140.0 to 14517.3	0.094			
1750	6895.75 (4540.52)	-2049.2 to 15840.7	0.130			
2000	7102.85 (5115.84)	-2975.5 to 17181.2	0.166			
	Societal Sensitivity Analysis 3 (n = 249, CL = 144, PUD = 105)					
WTP*	Incremental net benefit	95% CI	p-value			
0	5087.07 (1539.42)	2054.4 to 8119.8	0.001‡			
250	5294.18 (1672.44)	1999.4 to 8588.9	0.002†			
500	5501.28 (1988.74)	1583.4 to 9419.1	0.006†			
750	5708.39 (2417.42)	946.0 to 10470.8	0.019†			
1000	5915.50 (2909.23)	184.3 to 11646.7	0.043†			
1250	6122.60 (3437.16)	-648.7 to 12893.9	0.076			
1500	6329.71 (3986.90)	-1524.6 to 14184.0	0.114			
1750	6536.81 (4550.55)	-2427.8 to 15501.5	0.152			
2000	6743.92 (5123.52)	-3349.5 to 16837.4	0.189			

Table 6: Sensitivity analyses net benefit regression results.

* WTP for a one-point improvement on the KOOS total change score from baseline to 12 months

** Incremental net benefit with standard error (SE)

^{*a*} A positive incremental net benefit favors the locking plate treatment group

† p < 0.05, ‡ p < 0.001 Abbreviations: WTP = willingness-to-pay, CI = confidence interval



Figure 11: Sensitivity analysis cost-effectiveness acceptability curves (CEAC)
displaying the probability that the locking plate is cost-effective compared to the non-locking plate from the societal perspective over a range of willingness to pay values for an additional one-point improvement in the Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score total change score (baseline to 12 months). A)
Adjusting the dollar value for retirement or home making time, B) Adjusting the time to return to work, C) Combining the two previous adjustments.

Chapter 4

4 Discussion

The present study is the first to investigate the clinical and cost-effectiveness of a locking plate compared to a non-locking plate in patients undergoing medial opening wedge HTO. We found statistically significant differences in time to return to full weight-bearing favoring the locking plate group, while there were no statistically significant differences in the KOOS total change score or any of its subdomains from baseline to six months between the two plate groups. Our results also suggest that the locking plate is unlikely to be cost-effective from the healthcare payer perspective, although it may be cost-effective from the societal perspective.

With the suggested additional stability that the locking plate provides, we expected these patients to return to full weight-bearing much faster than patients who received the non-locking plate. In line with our hypothesis, we found that patients who underwent HTO with the locking plate returned to full weight-bearing without gait aid use at a mean 10.9 \pm 5.8 weeks after surgery, which was significantly sooner than patients receiving the locking plate whose return to full weight-bearing time was 17 \pm 6.5 weeks (between group difference = 6.1 weeks, 95% CI 4.5, 7.6). The present findings are in line with those from Asik et al. who report return to full weight-bearing times of approximately three months after surgery among 65 patients who received a non-locking plate²⁴.

Reports in the literature for time to return to full weight-bearing in locking plates vary considerably. Lobenhoffer and Agneskirchner reported that patients who received a locking plate (Synthes TomoFix Plate®) began full weight-bearing as early as six to nine weeks postoperative, however it is unclear whether this was with complete discontinuation of crutch use or if the patient was able to put full weight on the operative limb with assisted crutch use¹⁷⁷. Staubli et al. reported that patients returned to full weight-bearing without crutches at ten weeks after surgery on average when using a locking plate (Synthes TomoFix Plate®)¹⁷⁸, while Brosset et al. reported a mean 3

months to return to full weight-bearing without gait aid assistance among 51 patients using the same locking plate³⁹.

Hernigou et al. also compared patients receiving locking and non-locking HTO plates (Limmed Plate®). They found that 80% of patients began full weight-bearing on the operative limb without crutches at a mere two weeks following the HTO when locking screws were used (n = 85), while matched control patients who received non-locking screws (n = 85) took three months to return to full weight-bearing. However, their patient sample is considered a healthy weight (BMI between 20 and 25 kg/m²)³⁷, whereas our patient sample is considered borderline obese (BMI \approx 30 kg/m²). It is therefore difficult to compare our results with the results from Hernigou et al. as previous studies have emphasized the importance of handling the rehabilitation process after HTO in obese patients with care due to a longer period time required for healing^{129,179,180}.

A recent study from Landsdaal et al. investigated the functional impacts of early weightbearing for patients undergoing medial opening wedge HTO with a locking HTO plate (Synthes TomoFix Plate®) in a randomized control trial³⁰. They found that although patients were able to immediately begin weight-bearing (45 days earlier than their delayed weight-bearing group), 29% of patients in the immediate weight-bearing group (n = 25) were still using crutches at three months compared to only 17% of the delayed weight-bearing group patients (n = 25). This suggests that goals should perhaps not be aimed at allowing patients to immediately begin weight-bearing after HTO surgery, but instead identifying the optimal time period to begin the weight-bearing process that promotes bone healing in a safe manner.

A primary concern for surgeons in allowing patients an early return to full weight-bearing without crutches is the risk of post-operative complications. However, we found that despite a much faster return to full weight-bearing for the locking plate patients, post-operative complications were generally similar between the two groups aside from hardware failures which occurred slightly more frequently in patients receiving the non-locking plate. This is likely because of the lack of primary stability that the non-locking

plate provides with excess motion to the osteotomy site and increased stress on the plate and screws^{33,35}. Although we expected to see higher rates of plate removal in the locking plate group, the number of cases between groups is similar. It is important to note however, that plate removals were only reported up to 12 months following the HTO to be included in our cost-effectiveness analysis.

Based on the suggested quicker return to full weight-bearing with the locking plate, we expected to see earlier improvements in patient-reported outcomes in these patients when compared to those receiving the non-locking plate. Although the KOOS total and subdomain change scores are slightly higher in the locking plate group from baseline to six months after surgery, the between-group differences are not statistically significant. No other studies have compared KOOS scores between the locking plate and non-locking plate, however the large improvements in KOOS seen for both treatment groups from baseline to six months after the surgery is similar to results found in the literature. Brinkman et al. found significant improvements for early weight-bearing patients when using a locking plate (Synthes TomoFix Plate®, n = 14), with a change score ranging between 8 and 35 points from baseline to six months in individual KOOS subdomains²⁷. Birmingham et al. also found significant improvements in all KOOS domains from baseline to six months when using a non-locking plate (Arthrex Puddu Plate®, n = 126), although the six month KOOS score mean values were not reported (primary outcomes were 24-month data)¹²².

Results from our CEA suggest that the use of a locking plate for fixation in medial opening wedge HTO is unlikely to be cost-effective from the healthcare payer perspective, although it may be cost-effective from the societal perspective. In terms of effectiveness, we found statistical uncertainty surrounding the small difference in improvement seen in the KOOS total change score that favors the locking plate group (+1.60 KOOS total change point; 95% CI -6.1, 2.9) indicating that either intervention could be the favorable treatment. Therefore, our results are driven heavily by differences in costs between the two interventions.

In our sample, we found that the initial surgical costs are very similar between groups with similar rates of postoperative complications requiring additional intervention (i.e. revision surgery, etc.). The difference in overall cost between the two interventions (+\$755.20 for the locking plate) is reflected in the raw plate and screw costs (\$1,192.43 for the non-locking plate (Arthrex Puddu Plate®) and \$1,827.43 for the locking plate (Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®)). The ICER value of +\$472.00 per one additional point improvement in the KOOS total change score suggests that the Ministry of Health must be willing to pay almost \$5,000 more per patient to achieve a clinically important improvement in KOOS score, however due to the similar outcomes between groups, it is unlikely to be cost-effective. This is further supported with the results from the NBR (Table 6) and the CEAC (Figure 10A) which show that the probability that the locking plate is cost-effective from the payer perspective plateaus at around 55% at a WTP of \$1,000 (Figure 10A) with probabilities less than half of that when WTP < \$1,000, making the non-locking plate a more attractive treatment option for institutional decision makers in terms of saving healthcare dollars.

On the other hand, we did find the locking plate to be cost-effective from the societal perspective, which incorporates indirect costs such as time off work, retirement and home making and out-of-pocket expenses for the patient. The difference in overall societal costs between treatment groups favored the locking plate with an estimated \$6,228.21 cost saving at 12 months following the HTO. The cost difference is largely due to a much sooner time to return to employment/activities and reduction in productivity losses for patients receiving the locking plate. These conclusions are supported from our NBR model (Table 6) and CEAC (Figure 10B) which suggest that there is a 99% probability that the locking plate is cost-effective at a WTP of \$0, however this certainty slowly decreases as the WTP value increases (Figure 10B). This is explained by the uncertainty surrounding the incremental effect between the two treatment groups. The wide confidence intervals around our estimated incremental effect (95% CI -6.1, 2.9) indicate that using the locking plate does not always result in health gains and therefore, the CEAC is a slowly decreasing function of WTP¹⁸¹.

Both perspectives provide valuable information in the process of decision-making. A few essential aspects specific to HTO are worth considering when making decisions. The rehabilitation period after HTO surgery is deemed fairly lengthy with a period of crutch ambulation that can continue several weeks after surgery as evidenced by numerous studies in the literature^{24,30,39,177,178} and results from our study (Table 3). Consequently, employed patients are often off work for extended periods of time and retired and home making patients are often limited in their everyday activities for many weeks which can generate large losses in productivity for society.

The viewpoint of institutional decision makers is often quite restrictive to direct system costs and sometimes fails to consider the overall societal impacts. From our results, the decision maker may opt for using the non-locking plate due to significantly lower cost; however considering solely the healthcare payer perspective could significantly undermine the true benefit the locking plate for society. Ignoring these important costs in CEA can lead to inefficient allocation of resources both short and long-term for society as a whole¹⁸². The societal perspective theoretically includes all costs relating directly to the patient, their families, the public, and government expenditures as a whole, making for a more comprehensive analysis. Although much attention is given to the direct healthcare costs associated with OA in current economic analyses, workforce absenteeism has been shown to contribute considerably to the burden of OA in Canada¹⁸². One study estimated that 80% of the overall annual costs for OA result from time lost from employment and leisure by both participants and unpaid caregivers¹⁴³. Therefore, it is important for decision makers to consider the entire scope of incurred costs when allocating resources. It is important to consider both perspectives for decision making, however most organizations such as The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health advocate that the societal perspective holds the most importance for the entire population's best interest¹⁶⁰.

Our center performs approximately 75 to 100 HTO surgeries annually. In the eyes of the healthcare payer, using the non-locking (Arthrex Puddu Plate®) for HTO could save \$755.20 for every patient (equivalent to approximately \$56,500 cost saving annually). When examining from a societal perspective, the costs associated with using the locking (Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®) over the non-locking plate are offset by significant savings to society (equivalent to approximately \$467,000 cost saving annually). Ultimately, it may require surgeons to advocate the use of socioeconomically favorable treatment interventions and offer perspective to governing boards who remain restrictive in the decision-making process. Potential solutions include the reallocation of funds for surgical equipment to offset the higher cost of locking plates and profit from its societal cost savings, benefiting from both perspectives. For example, bone graft and substitutes cost between \$500 and \$750 per HTO procedure. Recent evidence suggests that the use bone graft or substitutes may be unnecessary when using a stronger locking plates as patients experience similar improvements in clinical outcomes without an increase in complication rates¹²⁵. Eliminating the cost of graft could offset the higher cost of the locking plate designs; however this is a question that demands further research.

4.1 Strengths & Limitations

To our knowledge, our study is the first to investigate clinical outcomes for the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® and also the first to compare the cost-effectiveness of plate design in medial opening wedge HTO. The strengths of this study include the use of validated disease/joint specific outcomes and a large sample size. Furthermore, the use of the net benefit regression framework in our CEA allowed us to control for baseline variables and to explore potential interaction terms for a richer understanding of the cost-effectiveness, which can be limited when solely exploring incremental cost-effectiveness ratios¹⁷³.

Perhaps the biggest limitation in our study was the retrospective design. The decision to use a locking vs. non-locking plate resulted from a shift in clinical practice. The lack of group randomization makes our study susceptible to biases that could factor into patient improvement after surgery as a result of between-group differences in baseline characteristics. However, baseline demographic and clinical characteristics that were believed to influence outcomes in this study are similar between groups and were also controlled for in our cost-effectiveness analysis.

Slight between-group differences are seen in the degree of joint degeneration in the lateral compartment of the knee (more severe for the locking plate group). There are also between-group differences in the number of concomitant tibial tubercle osteotomy surgeries performed (more in the locking group), the number of outpatient procedures (more in the locking group) and the number of osteotomies that were left unfilled, with no bone graft (more in the non-locking group). For these characteristics, time was likely a factor contributing to between-group differences as a result of the shift in clinical practice. Differences in lateral compartment degeneration could have resulted from differences in measurement between radiographic assessors or surgeon expertise over time treating more advance OA cases. Differences in the number of TTOs, outpatient procedures performed and osteotomy gaps left unfilled could have resulted from changes in medical practice over time. However, these clinical and surgical characteristics are not thought to have influenced the outcomes investigated in this study.

Another large limitation in our study is the high volume of assumptions that were made when assessing patient charts such as identifying the exact time to return to full weightbearing without crutches. Although data extraction methods were standardized for the two treatment groups, data collected prospectively (i.e. through questionnaires) may have been more precise. Prospective data collection would have also allowed us to address other relevant questions such as patient satisfaction following the surgery (i.e. related to return to weight-bearing rehabilitation process). Further, patients who filled out cost questionnaires in our study were asked to recall how long they were off work after surgery, making our data susceptible to recall bias. To minimize this, response options were presented in 2-month increments (i.e. 3-4 months).

Another limitation to our study is that all surgeries were performed by a single surgeon. This presents the risk for expertise bias that could influence interpretation of bone consolidation and pain in deciding whether to allow the patient to begin full weight-bearing. Additionally, complication rates from our study are low when compared to previous studies^{24,126,134–139}. The surgeon's expertise could have resulted in the lower complication rate from years of experience performing HTO procedures, which threatens the external validity (generalizability) of the results to other clinical practices. Specifically, the frequency of hardware removals reported for patients receiving a locking plate are quite low when compared to previous studies who report over 80% removal rate^{29,40}. Although we were unable to control for this in our cost-effectiveness analysis that uses trial-based data, alternative model-based analyses can use complication and plate removal rates reported in the literature to generate cost estimates.

The generalizability of this study is also threatened by the fact that all surgeries were performed at a single center. For example, our center receives a pro-rate on charges for some surgical equipment costs due to the high volume of HTO cases performed annually, which may not translate to costing at other centers. It is important also to note that this study was designed to evaluate the clinical and cost-effectiveness of using the Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate® (locking) over the Arthrex Puddu Plate® (non-locking) for medial opening wedge HTO in patients with medial compartment knee OA and varus alignment and therefore conclusions should not be drawn for patients receiving variations of the osteotomy procedure (i.e. lateral closing wedge HTO, distal femoral osteotomy, etc.), who are valgus aligned or undergo HTO using a different internal fixation plate.

Another potential limitation for this study is the 12-month follow-up period. Previous studies have indicated that the survivorship of a HTO can exceed 15 years¹³⁰ and the optimal economic analysis would incorporate all lifetime costing¹⁵⁹ which includes

revision and co-interventions past the 12 month mark (i.e. revision HTO, conversion to TKA or UKA, etc.). However, the likelihood that large differences in cost exist between a locking plate and non-locking plate past the 12 month mark is low since the majority of post-operative complications occur within the first 12 months of surgery, as does the progression to full weight-bearing^{28,30,36,126,179}.

Finally, some costs typically included in CEAs to capture a more comprehensive societal perspective were omitted due to the retrospective nature of the study. Direct costs related to out-of-pocket expenses for the patient/caregivers and over-the-counter medication/aids, as well as indirect costs related to time lost from the caregiver were not available to be included in the study. Therefore, our total cost values are likely underestimated. However, we suspect that addition of these costs would increase the cost difference between groups as a result of a much quicker return to full weight-bearing for the locking plate group. Our estimate is therefore conservative.

Chapter 5

5 Conclusion

We found that patients who received a locking plate (Arthrex ContourLock HTO Plate®) for medial opening wedge HTO returned to full weight-bearing without assistance of gait aid significantly faster than patients who received a non-locking plate (Arthrex Puddu Plate®). No significant between-group differences were found for the change in KOOS from baseline to six months after surgery. Results from our CEA indicate that the locking plate is not cost-effective from the healthcare payer's perspective as a result of higher initial plate and screw costs. The locking plate is however, cost-effective from the societal perspective as patients return to work much faster after the surgery.

5.1 Future Directions

The retrospective nature of this study required a high volume of assumptions to be made during data extraction, opening the opportunity for improved study design in future investigations. Prospective studies should aim to introduce more surgeons and orthopaedic centers to make results from this study (i.e. complication rates, cost, etc.) more generalizable to all medial opening wedge HTO procedures while including various different locking and non-locking plate designs. Time to return to weight-bearing and time to return to work should be collected prospectively, along with direct patient costs, caregiver costs and other out-of-pocket expenses that would generate a more complete CEA estimate.

Results from this study indicate that the locking plate allows patients to return to full weight-bearing much quicker after HTO. It would therefore be important to evaluate patient outcomes (i.e. change in muscle strength, functional outcomes, etc.) at shorter follow-up times (i.e. 3 months) to observe if the differences in return to full weight-bearing time could also affect the rate of improvement in patient activities of daily living,

quality of life and gait mechanics. Finally, studies should be conducted to determine whether costs can be minimized when eliminating bone graft or substitute in HTO procedures when a locking plate is used, as some studies have suggested that bone graft is not necessary for these cases¹²⁵. In turn, we could benefit from both the healthcare and societal viewpoints of cost when using a locking plate.

References

- Bennell KL, Hunter DJ, Hinman RS. Management of osteoarthritis of the knee. BMJ. 2012;345:4934.
- 2. Health Canada. Life with Arthritis in Canada. A Personal and public health challenge. 2010.
- Lawrence RC, David T. Felson M, Helmick CG, et al. Estimates of the Prevalence of Arthritis and Other Rheumatic Conditions in the United States, Part II. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2008;58(1):26-35.
- Vos T, Barber RM, Bell B, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*. 2015;386(9995):1990-2013.
- Felson DT, Goggins J, Niu J, Zhang Y, Hunter DJ. The effect of body weight on progression of knee osteoarthritis is dependent on alignment. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50(12):3904-3909.
- 6. Garstang S V, Stitik TP. Osteoarthritis: epidemiology, risk factors, and pathophysiology. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil*. 2006;85(11 Suppl):S2-S11.
- Moyer RF, Birmingham TB, Chesworth BM, Kean CO, Giffin JR. Alignment, body mass and their interaction on dynamic knee joint load in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartil.* 2010;18:888-893.
- 8. Sharma L, Song J, Dunlop D, et al. Varus and valgus alignment and incident and progressive knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 2010;69(11):1940-1945.

- 9. Andriacchi TP. Dynamics of knee malalignment. *Orthop Clin North Am*. 1994;25(3):395-403.
- Miyazaki T, Wada M, Kawahara H, Sato M, Baba H, Shimada S. Dynamic load at baseline can predict radiographic disease progression in medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2002;61:617-622.
- Foroughi N, Smith R, Vanwanseele B. The association of external knee adduction moment with biomechanical variables in osteoarthritis: A systematic review. *Knee*. 2009;16(5):303-309.
- Sharma L, Chmiel JS, Almagor O, et al. The role of varus and valgus alignment in the initial development of knee cartilage damage by MRI: the MOST study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2013:235-240.
- Felson DT. Osteoarthritis as a disease of mechanics. *Osteoarthr Cartil.* 2013;21(1):10-15.
- 14. Lützner J, Kasten P, Günther K-P, Kirschner S. Surgical options for patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. 2009;5(6):309-316.
- McNamara I, Birmingham TB, Fowler PJ, Giffin JR. High tibial osteotomy: Evolution of research and clinical applications-a Canadian experience. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2013;21:23-31.
- 16. Moyer RF, Birmingham TB, Dombroski CE, et al. Combined effects of a valgus knee brace and lateral wedge foot orthotic on the external knee adduction moment in patients with varus gonarthrosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2013;94(1):103-112.
- Moyer RF, Birmingham TB, Bryant DM, Giffin JR, Marriott KA, Leitch KM. Biomechanical effects of valgus knee bracing: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Osteoarthr Cartil.* 2015;23(2):178-188.

- Hernigou P, Medevielle D, Debeyre J, Goutallier D. Proximal tibial osteotomy for osteoarthritis with varus deformity. A ten to thirteen-year follow-up study. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1987;69(3):332-354.
- Amendola A, Bonasia DE. Results of high tibial osteotomy: Review of the literature. *Int Orthop.* 2010;34:155-160.
- Fowler PJ, Tan JL, Brown GA. Medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy: how I do it. *Oper Tech Sports Med.* 2000;8(1):32-38.
- 21. Lee DC, Byun SJ. High Tibial Osteotomy. *Knee Surg Relat Res*. 2012;24(2):61-69.
- Staubli AE. Open-Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy with a Locking Plate (TomoFix) for Treatment of Medial Monocompartment Osteoarthritis. *Oper Tech Orthop*. 2011;21(2):156-162.
- Pape D, Kohn D, van Giffen N, Hoffmann A, Seil R, Lorbach O. Differences in fixation stability between spacer plate and plate fixator following high tibial osteotomy. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2013;21(1):82-89.
- Asik M, Sen C, Kilic B, Goksan SB, Ciftci F, Taser OF. High tibial osteotomy with Puddu plate for the treatment of varus gonarthrosis. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2006;14:948-954.
- Noyes FR, Mayfield W, Barber-Westin SD, Albright JC, Heckmann TP. Opening wedge high tibial osteotomy: an operative technique and rehabilitation program to decrease complications and promote early union and function. *Am J Sports Med.* 2006;34:1262-1273.
- Takeuchi R, Ishikawa H, Aratake M, et al. Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy With Early Full Weight Bearing. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2009;25(1):46-53.

- Brinkman J-M, Luites JWH, Wymenga AB, Van Heerwaarden RJ. Early full weight bearing is safe in open-wedge high tibial osteotomy RSA analysis of postoperative stability compared to delayed weight bearing. *Acta Orthop.* 2010;81(2):193-198.
- DeMeo PJ, Johnson EM, Chiang PP, Flamm a. M, Miller MC. Midterm Followup of Opening-Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy. *Am J Sports Med*. 2010;38(10):2077-2084.
- Cotic M, Vogt S, Hinterwimmer S, et al. A matched-pair comparison of two different locking plates for valgus-producing medial open-wedge high tibial osteotomy: peek–carbon composite plate versus titanium plate. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2014;23(7):2032-2040.
- 30. Lansdaal JR, Mouton T, Wascher DC, et al. Early weight bearing versus delayed weight bearing in medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy: a randomized controlled trial. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2016;July 1[Epud ahead of print].
- Smith RW, Ziran HB, Anglen OJ, Stahel FP. Locking Plates: Tips and Tricks. J Bone Jt Surg. 2007;89-A(10):2297-2307.
- Sommer C, Gautier E, Miller M, Helfet DL, Wagner M. First clinical results of the Locking Compression Plate (LCP). *Injury*. 2003;34(Suppl. 2).
- Egol K, Kubiak EN, Fulkerson E, Kummer FJ, Koval KJ. Biomechanics of locked plates and screws. *J Orthop Trauma*. 2004;18(8):488-493.
- Pape D, Lorbach O, Schmitz C, et al. Effect of a biplanar osteotomy on primary stability following high tibial osteotomy: A biomechanical cadaver study. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2010;18(2):204-211.
- 35. Stoffel K, Stachowiak G, Kuster M. Open wedge high tibial osteotomy:

Biomechanical investigation of the modified Arthrex Osteotomy Plate (Puddu Plate) and the TomoFix Plate. *Clin Biomech*. 2004;19:944-950.

- Agneskirchner JD, Freiling D, Hurschler C, Lobenhoffer P. Primary stability of four different implants for opening wedge high tibial osteotomy. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2006;14(3):291-300.
- Hernigou P, Queinnec S, Picard L, et al. Safety of a novel high tibial osteotomy locked plate fixation for immediate full weight-bearing: A case-control study. *Int Orthop.* 2013;37(12):2377-2384.
- Jung WH, Chun CW, Lee JH, Ha JH, Kim JH, Jeong JH. Comparative study of medial opening-wedge high tibial osteotomy using 2 different implants. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2013;29(6):1063-1071.
- Brosset T, Pasquier G, Migaud H, Gougeon F. Opening wedge high tibial osteotomy performed without filling the defect but with locking plate fixation (TomoFix TM) and early weight-bearing : Prospective evaluation of bone union , precision and maintenance of correction in 51 cases. *Orthop Traumatol Surg Res.* 2011;97(7):705-711.
- 40. Niemeyer P, Schmal H, Hauschild O, Von Heyden J, Sdkamp NP, Kstler W. Open-wedge osteotomy using an internal plate fixator in patients with medialcompartment gonarthritis and varus malalignment: 3-year results with regard to preoperative arthroscopic and radiographic findings. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2010;26(12):1607-1616.
- Raja Izaham RMA, Abdul Kadir MR, Abdul Rashid AH, Hossain MG, Kamarul T. Finite element analysis of Puddu and Tomofix plate fixation for open wedge high tibial osteotomy. *Injury*. 2012;43(6):898-902.
- 42. Maas S, Diffo Kaze A, Dueck K, Pape D. Static and Dynamic Differences in Fixation Stability between a Spacer Plate and a Small Stature Plate Fixator Used

for High Tibial Osteotomies: A Biomechanical Bone Composite Study. *ISRN Orthop.* 2013;2013(10):1-10.

- Diffo Kaze A, Maas S, Waldmann D, Zilian A, Dueck K, Pape D. Biomechanical properties of five different currently used implants for open-wedge high tibial osteotomy. *J Exp Orthop*. 2015;2(1):14.
- 44. Aryee S, Imhoff AB, Rose T, Tischer T. Do we need synthetic osteotomy augmentation materials for opening-wedge high tibial osteotomy. *Biomaterials*. 2008;29(26):3497-3502.
- 45. Brooks PM. The burden of musculoskeletal disease—a global perspective. *Clin Rheumatol*. 2006;25(6):778-781.
- 46. Felson DT, Lawrence RC, Dieppe P a., et al. Osteoarthritis: New insights Part 1: The disease and its risk factors. *Ann Intern Med.* 2000;133(8):635-646.
- Issa SN, Sharma L. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis: An update. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* 2006;8(1):7-15.
- Woolf AD, Pfleger B. Burden of major musculoskeletal conditions. *Bull World Health Organ*. 2003;81(9):646-656.
- 49. Bombardier C, Hawker G, Mosher D. *The Impact of Arthritis in Canada : Today and Over the Next 30 Years*. Vol Fall.; 2011. http://www.arthritisalliance.ca.
- Murray CJL, Vos T, Lozano R, et al. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9859):2197-2223.
- Mathers C, Fat D, World Health Organization. WHO report global burden of disease (2006). *Glob Burd Dis*. 2008:p.146.
- 52. Felson DT, Zhang Y. An update on the epidemiology of knee and hip osteoarthritis

with a view to prevention. Arthritis Rheum. 1998;41(8):1343-1355.

- Badley EM. Arthritis in Canada: what do we know and what should we know? J Rheumatol. 2005;32(Suppl. 72):39-41.
- Lawrence RC, Helmick CG, Arnett FC, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and selected musculoskeletal disorders in the United States. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1998;41(5):778-799.
- 55. Brouwer GM, Van Tol AW, Bergink AP, et al. Association between valgus and varus alignment and the development and progression of radiographic osteoarthritis of the knee. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2007;56(4):1204-1211.
- Englund M. The role of biomechanics in the initiation and progression of OA of the knee. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2010;24(1):39-46.
- Vos T, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, et al. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990-2010: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9859):2163-2196.
- Cross M, Smith E, Hoy D, et al. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 2014;73(7):1323-1330.
- 59. Murphy L, Schwartz TA, Helmick CG, et al. Lifetime risk of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2008;59(9):1207-1213.
- 60. Tortora GJ, Derrickson B. Principles of Anatomy and Physiology. 2014.
- Buckwalter J a., Lane NE. Athletics and Osteoarthritis. *Am J Sport Med*. 1997;25(6):873-881.
- 62. Hunter DJ, Felson DT. Osteoarthritis. *BMJ*. 2006;18(332):639-642.

- Moskowitz RW, Altman RD, Hochberg MC, Buckwalter JA, Goldberg VM. Pathology of osteoarthritis. In: Osteoarthritis: Diagnosis and Medical/surgical Management. 2007:51-52.
- 64. Dieppe PA, Lohmander LS. Pathogenesis and management of pain in osteoarthritis. In: *Lancet*. 2005;365:965-973.
- 65. Ledingham J, Regan M, Jones A, Doherty M. Radiographic patterns and associations of osteoarthritis of the knee in patients referred to hospital. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 1993;52(7):520-526.
- 66. McAlindon TE, Snow S, Cooper C, Dieppe PA. Radiographic patterns of osteoarthritis of the knee joint in the community: the importance of the patellofemoral joint. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 1992;51(7):844-849.
- 67. Cooke D, Scudamore A, Li J, Wyss U, Bryan T, Costigan P. Axial lower-limb alignment: Comparison of knee geometry in normal volunteers and osteoarthritis patients. *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 1997;5(1):39-47.
- Davis MA, Ettinger WH, Neuhaus JM, Cho SA, Hauck WW. The association of knee injury and obesity with unilateral and bilateral osteoarthritis of the knee. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1989;130(2):278-288.
- 69. Sowers MR, Karvonen-Gutierrez CA. The evolving role of obesity in knee osteoarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2010;22(5):533-537.
- Richter M, Trzeciak T, Owecki M, Pucher A, Kaczmarczyk J. The role of adipocytokines in the pathogenesis of knee joint osteoarthritis. *Int Orthop*. 2015;39(6):1211-1217.
- McAlindon TE, Jacques P, Zhang Y, et al. Do antioxidant micronutrients protect against the development and progression of knee osteoarthritis? *Arthritis Rheum*. 1996;39(4):648-656.

- 72. Roos EM, Arden NK. Strategies for the prevention of knee osteoarthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2015;12(2):1-10.
- Nüesch E, Dieppe P, Reichenbach S, Williams S, Iff S, Jüni P. All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis: population based cohort study. *BMJ*. 2011;342:d1165.
- Stewart A, Black AJ. Bone mineral density in osteoarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2000;12:464-467.
- 75. Zhang Y, Hannan MT, Chaisson CE, et al. Bone mineral density and risk of incident and progressive radiographic knee osteoarthritis in women: The Framingham Study. *J Rheumatol*. 2000;27(4):1032-1037.
- Sharma L, Song J, Felson DT, Cahue S, Shamiyeh E, Dunlop DD. The role of knee alignment in disease progression and functional decline in knee osteoarthritis. *JAMA*. 2001;286(2):188-195.
- Cerejo R, Dunlop DD, Cahue S, Channin D, Song J, Sharma L. The influence of alignment on risk of knee osteoarthritis progression according to baseline stage of disease. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2002;46(10):2632-2636.
- Felson DT, Niu J, Yang T, et al. Physical activity, alignment and knee osteoarthritis: Data from MOST and the OAI. *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2013;21(6):789-795.
- 79. Cooper C, McAlindon T, Coggon D, Egger P, Dieppe P. Occupational activity and osteoarthritis of the knee. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 1994;53(2):90-93.
- Cooper C, Snow S, Mcalindon TE, et al. Risk factors for the incidence and progression of radiographic knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2000;43(5):995-1000.

- Manninen P, Riihimaki H, Heliovaara M, Makela P. Overweight, gender and knee osteoarthritis. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord J Int Assoc Study Obes*. 1996;20(6):595-597.
- Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Naimark A, Walker AM, Meenan RF. Obesity and knee osteoarthritis. The Framingham Study. *Ann Intern Med.* 1988;109(1):18-24.
- Felson DT, Zhang Y, Hannan MT, et al. Risk factors for incident radiographic knee osteoarthritis in the elderly. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1997;40(4):728-733.
- Maetzel A, Makela M, Hawker G, Bombardier C. Osteoarthritis of the hip and knee and mechanical occupational exposure--a systematic overview of the evidence. *J Rheumatol.* 1997;24(8):1599-1607.
- Slemenda C, Hellman D, Brandt K, et al. Reduced quadrcieps strength relative to body weight a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis in women? *Arthritis Rheum*. 1998;41(11):1951-1959.
- 86. Slemenda C, Brandt KD, Heilman DK, et al. Quadriceps weakness and osteoarthritis of the knee. *Ann Intern Med.* 1997;127(2):97-104.
- Sharma L, Hurwitz DE, Thonar EJMA, et al. Knee adduction moment, serum hyaluronan level, and disease severity in medial tibiofemoral osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1998;41(7):1233-1240.
- Amin S, Luepongsak N, McGibbon C a, LaValley MP, Krebs DE, Felson DT. Knee adduction moment and development of chronic knee pain in elders. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2004;51(3):371-376.
- Bennell KL, Bowles K-A, Wang Y, Cicuttini F, Davies-Tuck M, Hinman RS. Higher dynamic medial knee load predicts greater cartilage loss over 12 months in medial knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 2011;70:1770-1774.

- 90. Chang A, Hayes K, Dunlop D, et al. Thrust during ambulation and the progression of knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50(12):3897-3903.
- Hsu RW, Himeno S, Coventry MB, Chao EY. Normal axial alignment of the lower extremity and load-bearing distribution at the knee. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 1990:215-227.
- 92. Specogna AV, Birmingham TB, Hunt MA, et al. Radiographic measures of knee alignment in patients with varus gonarthrosis: effect of weightbearing status and associations with dynamic joint load. *Am J Sports Med*. 2007;35:65-70.
- Specogna AV, Birmingham TB, DaSilva JJ, et al. Reliability of lower limb frontal plane alignment measurements using plain radiographs and digitized images. J *Knee Surg.* 2004;17(4):203-210.
- 94. Hinman RS, May RL, Crossley KM. Is there an alternative to the full-leg radiograph for determining knee joint alignment in osteoarthritis? *Arthritis Care Res*. 2006;55(2):306-313.
- Prodromos CC, Andriacchi TP, Galante JO. A relationship between gait and clinical changes following high tibial osteotomy. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 1985;67(8):1188-1194.
- Hurwitz DE, Ryals AR, Block \$j A, Sharma L, Schnitzer TJ, Andriacchi TP. Knee pain and joint loading in subjects with osteoarthritis of the knee. *J Orthop Res*. 2000;18(4):572-579.
- 97. Cicuttini F, Wluka A, Hankin J, Wang Y. Longitudinal study of the relationship between knee angle and tibiofemoral cartilage volume in subjects with knee osteoarthritis. *Rheumatology*. 2004;43(3):321-324.
- 98. Eckstein F, Wirth W, Hudelmaier M, et al. Patterns of femorotibial cartilage loss in knees with neutral, varus, and valgus alignment. *Arthritis Care Res*.

2008;59(11):1563-1570.

- Hunt MA., Birmingham TB, Jenkyn TR, Giffin JR, Jones IC. Measures of frontal plane lower limb alignment obtained from static radiographs and dynamic gait analysis. *Gait Posture*. 2008;27(4):635-640.
- Johnson F, Leitl S, Waugh W. The distribution of load across the knee. A comparison of static and dynamic measurements. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 1980;62(3):346-349.
- Tudor-Locke C, Bassett DR. How Many Steps/Day Are Enough? Preliminary Pedometer Indices for Public Health. Sport Med. 2004;34(1):1-8.
- 102. Andriacchi TP, Mündermann A. The role of ambulatory mechanics in the initiation and progression of knee osteoarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2006;18(5):514-518.
- 103. Baliunas AJ, Hurwitz DE, Ryals AB, Karrar A, Case JP, Block JA, Andriacchi TP. Increased knee joint loads during walking are present in subjects with knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartil.* 2002;10(7):573-579.
- Halder A, Kutzner I, Graichen F, Beier A, Bergmann G. Influence of Limb Alignment on Mediolateral Loading in Total Knee Replacement. *J Bone Jt Surg.* 2012;94(11):1023.
- 105. Thorp LE, Wimmer MA, Block JA, et al. Bone mineral density in the proximal tibia varies as a function of static alignment and knee adduction angular momentum in individuals with medial knee osteoarthritis. *Bone*. 2006;39(5):1116-1122.
- 106. Andrews M, Noyes FR, Hewett TE, Andriacchi TP. Lower limb alignment and foot angle are related to stance phase knee adduction in normal subjects: A critical analysis of the reliability of gait analysis data. *J Orthop Res.* 1996;14(2):289-295.

- 107. Birmingham TB, Hunt MA, Jones IC, Jenkyn TR, Giffin JR. Test-retest reliability of the peak knee adduction moment during walking in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2007;57(6):1012-1017.
- 108. Perry J, Burnfield JM. Gait Analysis Normal and Pathological Function. 1992.
- Altman R, Asch E, Bloch D, et al. Development of criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the knee.
 Diagnostic and Therapeutic Criteria Committee of the American Rheumatism Association. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1986;29(8):1039-1049.
- Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. Radiological Assessment of Osteo-Arthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 1957;16(4):494-502.
- Grelsamer R. Unicompartmental osteoarthrosis of the knee. *J Bone Jt Surg*. 1995;77(2):278-292.
- 112. Guccione AA, Felson DT, Anderson JJ, et al. The effects of specific medical conditions on the functional limitations of elders in the Framingham study. *Am J Public Health*. 1994;84(3):351-358.
- 113. Wilkie R, Peat G, Thomas E, Croft P. Factors associated with restricted mobility outside the home in community-dwelling adults ages fifty years and older with knee pain: An example of use of the international classification of functioning to investigate participation restriction. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2007;57(8):1381-1389.
- 114. Nelson AE, Allen KD, Golightly YM, Goode AP, Jordan JM. A systematic review of recommendations and guidelines for the management of osteoarthritis: The Chronic Osteoarthritis Management Initiative of the U.S. Bone and Joint Initiative. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* 2014.
- 115. Takeuchi R, Umemoto Y, Aratake M, et al. A mid term comparison of open wedge high tibial osteotomy vs unicompartmental knee arthroplasty for medial

compartment osteoarthritis of the knee. J Orthop Surg Res. 2010;5(1):65.

- 116. Fu D, Li G, Chen K, Zhao Y, Hua Y, Cai Z. Comparison of high tibial osteotomy and unicompartmental knee arthroplasty in the treatment of unicompartmental osteoarthritis: a meta-analysis. *J Arthroplasty*. 2013;28(5):759-765.
- 117. Nwachukwu BU, McCormick FM, Schairer WW, Frank RM, Provencher MT, Roche MW. Unicompartmental knee arthroplasty versus high tibial osteotomy: United States practice patterns for the surgical treatment of unicompartmental arthritis. *J Arthroplasty*. 2014;29(8):1586-1589.
- 118. Konopka JF, Gomoll AH, Thornhill TS, Katz JN, Losina E. The Cost-Effectiveness of Surgical Treatment of Medial Unicompartmental Knee Osteoarthritis in Younger Patients: A Computer Model-Based Evaluation. *J Bone Jt Surg.* 2015;97(10):807-817.
- 119. Smith Ii WB, Steinberg J, Scholtes S, Mcnamara IR. Medial compartment knee osteoarthritis: age-stratified cost-effectiveness of total knee arthroplasty, unicompartmental knee arthroplasty, and high tibial osteotomy. *Knee Surg Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2015;[Epub ahead]:1-0.
- 120. Amendola A. Unicompartmental osteoarthritis in the active patient: the role of high tibial osteotomy. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg*. 2003;19(10):109-116.
- 121. Coventry MB. Upper tibial osteotomy for osteoarthritis. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 1985;67(7):1136-1140.
- 122. Birmingham TB, Giffin JR, Chesworth BM, et al. Medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy: A prospective cohort study of gait, radiographic, and patientreported outcomes. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2009;61(5):648-657.
- Brown G, Amendola A. Radiographic Evaluation and Preoperative Planning for High Tibial. *Oper Tech Sports Med.* 2000;8(1):2-14.

- 124. Dugdale TW, Noyes FR, Styer D. Preoperative planning for high tibial osteotomy. The effect of lateral tibiofemoral separation and tibiofemoral length. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1992:248-264.
- 125. Han JH, Kim HJ, Song JG, et al. Is Bone Grafting Necessary in Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy ? A Meta-Analysis of Radiological Outcomes. *Knee Surg Relat Res.* 2015;27(4):207-220.
- Miller BS, Downie B, McDonough EB, Wojtys EM. Complications After Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2009;25(6):639-646.
- 127. Brinkman J-M, Lobenhoffer P, Agneskirchner JD, Staubli AE, Wymenga AB, van Heerwaarden RJ. Osteotomies around the knee. *J Bone Jt Surg - Br Vol.* 2008;90-B(12):1548-1557.
- 128. W-Dahl A, Toksvig-Larsen S, Roos EM. A 2-year prospective study of patientrelevant outcomes in patients operated on for knee osteoarthritis with tibial osteotomy. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2005;6:18.
- 129. Spahn G, Kirschbaum S, Kahl E. Factors that influence high tibial osteotomy results in patients with medial gonarthritis: a score to predict the results. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2006;14:190-195.
- Harris JD, McNeilan R, Siston RA, Flanigan DC. Survival and clinical outcome of isolated high tibial osteotomy and combined biological knee reconstruction. *Knee*. 2013;20(3):154-161.
- 131. Lind M, McClelland J, Wittwer JE, Whitehead TS, Feller JA, Webster KE. Gait analysis of walking before and after medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2013;21(1):74-81.
- 132. Schallberger A, Jacobi M, Wahl P, Maestretti G, Jakob RP. High tibial valgus

osteotomy in unicompartmental medial osteoarthritis of the knee: A retrospective follow-up study over 13-21 years. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2011;19(1):122-127.

- 133. Duivenvoorden T, Brouwer RW, Baan A, et al. Comparison of Closing-Wedge and Opening-Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy for Medical Compartment Osteoarthritis of the Knee. JBJS. 2014;(96):1425-1432.
- Spahn G. Complications in high tibial (medial opening wedge) osteotomy. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2004;124(10):649-653.
- 135. Meidinger G, Imhoff AB, Paul J, Kirchhoff C, Sauerschnig M, Hinterwimmer S. May smokers and overweight patients be treated with a medial open-wedge HTO? Risk factors for non-union. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2011;19:333-339.
- Warden SJ, Morris HG, Crossley KM, Brukner PD, Bennell KL. Delayed- and non-union following opening wedge high tibial osteotomy: Surgeons' results from 182 completed cases. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2005;13:34-37.
- 137. Schröter S, Gonser CE, Konstantinidis L, Helwig P, Albrecht D. High complication rate after biplanar open wedge high tibial osteotomy stabilized with a new spacer plate (position HTO plate) without bone substitute. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg.* 2011;27(5):644-652.
- 138. Brouwer RW, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, van Raaij TM, Verhaar JA. Osteotomy for medial compartment arthritis of the knee using a closing wedge or an opening wedge controlled by a Puddu plate. A one-year randomised, controlled study. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2006;88(11):1454-1459.
- Martin R, Birmingham TB, Willits K, Litchfield R, Lebel M, Giffin JR. Adverse event rates and classifications in medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy. *Am J Sports Med.* 2014;42:1118-1126.

- 140. Maffulli N, Loppini M, Longo UG, Denaro V, Oliva F. Bovine xenograft locking Puddu plate versus tricalcium phosphate spacer non-locking Puddu plate in opening-wedge high tibial osteotomy: A prospective double-cohort study. *Int Orthop.* 2013;37(5):819-826.
- 141. Kim MK, Ha JK, Lee DW, Nam SW, Kim JG, Lee YS. No correction angle loss with stable plates in open-wedge high tibial osteotomy. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2014;23(7):1999-2006.
- 142. Bode G, Ogon P, Pestka J, et al. Clinical outcome and return to work following single-stage combined autologous chondrocyte implantation and high tibial osteotomy. *Int Orthop.* 2015;39(4):689-696.
- 143. Gupta S, Hawker GA, Laporte A, Croxford R, Coyte PC. The economic burden of disabling hip and knee osteoarthritis (OA) from the perspective of individuals living with this condition. *Rheumatology*. 2005;44(12):1531-1537.
- 144. Schröter S, Mueller J, van Heerwaarden R, Lobenhoffer P, Stöckle U, Albrecht D. Return to work and clinical outcome after open wedge HTO. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2013;21(1):213-219.
- 145. Faschingbauer M, Nelitz M, Urlaub S, Reichel H, Dornacher D. Return to work and sporting activities after high tibial osteotomy. *Int Orthop*. 2015.
- 146. Saier T, Minzlaff P, Feucht MJ, et al. Health related quality of life after open wedge high tibial osteotomy. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2015.
- 147. Goodship AE, Kenwright J. The influence of induced micromovement upon the healing of experimental tibial fractures. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 1985;67(4):650-655.
- 148. Kenwright J, Goodship AE. Controlled Mechanical Stimulation in the Treatment of Tibial Fractures. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research. 1989;241:36-47.

- 149. Roderer G, Gebhard F, Duerselen L, Ignatius A, Claes L. Delayed bone healing following high tibial osteotomy related to increased implant stiffness in locked plating. *Injury*. 2014;45(10):1648-1652.
- Cordey J, Perren SM, Steinemann SG. Stress protection due to plates: myth or reality? A parametric analysis made using the composite beam theory. *Injury*. 2000;31 Suppl 3:C1-C13.
- 151. Farouk O, Krettek C, Miclau T, Schandelmaier P, Guy P, Tscherne H. Minimally invasive plate osteosynthesis: does percutaneous plating disrupt femoral blood supply less than the traditional technique? *J Orthop Trauma*. 1999;13(6):401-406.
- Claes L, Heigele CACA, Neidlinger-Wilke C, et al. Effects of Mechanical Factors on the Fracture Healing Process. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1998;355S(355 Suppl):S132-S147.
- 153. Luo C-A, Hua S-Y, Lin S-C, Chen C-M, Tseng C-S. Stress and stability comparison between different systems for high tibial osteotomies. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2013;14(1):110.
- 154. Watanabe K, Kamiya T, Suzuki D, et al. Biomechanical Stability of Open-Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy: Comparison of Two Locking Plates. *Open J Orthop Open J Orthop Open J Ortho-pedics*. 2014;4(4):257-262.
- 155. Han JH, Kim HJ, Song JG, et al. Locking plate versus non-locking plate in openwedge high tibial osteotomy: a meta-analysis. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2015:1-9.
- 156. Pauchard Y, Ivanov TG, McErlain DD, et al. Assessing the local mechanical environment in medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy using finite element analysis. *J Biomech Eng.* 2015;137(3):1-7.

- Neumann PJ. Costing and perspective in published cost-effectiveness analysis. *Med Care*. 2009;47(7):S28-S32.
- 158. Health Council of Canada. *Value for Money: Making Canadian Health Care Stronger*. Toronto; 2009.
- Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Torrance GW, O'Brien, Stoddart BJ and GL.
 Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes. Vol 3.; 2005.
- 160. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. *Guidelines for the Economic Evaluation of Health Technologies: Canada [3rd Edition]*. Ottawa; 2006.
- March LM, Bachmeier CJM. Economics of osteoarthritis: A global perspective. Baillieres Clin Rheumatol. 1997;11(4):817-834.
- 162. Brown C, Watters TS, Mather III RC, Orlando L, Bolognesi MP, Moorman III CT. Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty and High Tibial Osteotomy for Treatment of Medial Compartmental Osteoarthritis. *Duke Orthop J.* 2011;1:27-36.
- 163. Li CS, Bhandari M. Cost-Effectiveness of Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty, High Tibial Osteotomy, and KineSpring® Knee Implant System for Unicompartmental Osteoarthritis of the Knee. J Long Term Eff Med Implants. 2013;23(2-03):189-198.
- Hoch JS, Dewa CS. A clinician's guide to correct cost-effectiveness analysis: Think incremental not average. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2008;53(4):267-274.
- Hunt MA, Fowler PJ, Birmingham TB, Jenkyn TR, Giffin JR. Foot rotational effects on radiographic measures of lower limb alignment. *Can J Surg*. 2006;49(6):401-406.

- Henderson RC, Kemp GJ. Assessment of the mechanical axis in adolescent tibia vara. Orthopedics. 1991;14(3):313-316.
- 167. Roos EM, Roos HP, Lohmander LS, Ekdahl C, Beynnon BD. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)--development of a self-administered outcome measure. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 1998;28(2):88-96.
- Roos EM, Toksvig-Larsen S. Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) - validation and comparison to the WOMAC in total knee replacement. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2003;1:17.
- 169. Roos EM, Lohmander LS. The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): from joint injury to osteoarthritis. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2003;1:64.
- Ontario Cost Casing Initiative (OCCI). Version 7.1 Acute Inpatient Databases for Fiscal Year 2010/11. Toronto; 2011.
- 171. Ontario Schedule of Benefits. *Physician Services under the Health Insurance Act.* 2015. Toronto; 2015.
- 172. Statistics Canada. *Earnings, Average Weekly, by Province and Territory*.CANSIM Table no. 281-0027. Last updated March 31st, 2016.; 2015.
- 173. Hoch JS, Briggs AH, Willan AR. Something old, something new, something borrowed, something blue: A framework for the marriage of health econometrics and cost-effectiveness analysis. *Health Econ.* 2002;11(5):415-430.
- 174. Hoch JS, Rockx MA, Krahn AD. Using the net benefit regression framework to construct cost-effectiveness acceptability curves: an example using data from a trial of external loop recorders versus Holter monitoring for ambulatory monitoring of "community acquired" syncope. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2006;6(1):68.

- 175. Longino PD, Birmingham TB, Schultz WJ, Moyer RF, Giffin JR. Combined tibial tubercle osteotomy with medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy minimizes changes in patellar height: a prospective cohort study with historical controls. *Am J Sports Med.* 2013;41:2849-2857.
- 176. Roos EM, Lohmander LS. The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): from joint injury to osteoarthritis. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2003;1(1):64.
- 177. Lobenhoffer P, Agneskirchner JD. Improvements in surgical technique of valgus high tibial osteotomy. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2003;11:132-138.
- Staubli AE, De Simoni C, Babst R, Lobenhoffer P. TomoFix: A new LCP-concept for open wedge osteotomy of the medial proximal tibia - Early results in 92 cases. *Injury*. 2003;34:3-10.
- Floerkemeier S, Staubli AE, Schroeter S, Goldhahn S, Lobenhoffer P. Outcome after high tibial open-wedge osteotomy: A retrospective evaluation of 533 patients. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2013;21(1):170-180.
- 180. Yokoyama M, Nakamura Y, Onishi T, Hirano K, Doi M. Healing period after open high tibial osteotomy and related factors : Can we really say that it is long ? *Springerplus*. 2016.
- Fenwick E, O'Brien BJ, Briggs A. Cost-effectiveness acceptability curves--facts, fallacies and frequently asked questions. *Health Econ*. 2004;13(5):405-415.
- 182. Li X, Gignac MAM, Anis AH. The Indirect Costs of Arthritis Resulting From Unemployment, Reduced Performance, and Occupational Changes While at Work. 2006;44(4):304-310.

Appendices

Appendix A: Ethics Approval



Research Ethics

Principal Investigator: Dr. Trevor Birmingham File Number:1187 Review Level:Delegated Approved Local Adult Participants:900 Approved Local Multi Participants:0 Protocol Title:Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy for the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis: Evaluation of Dynamic Joint Loads and Health-Related Quality of Life - 09812E Department & Institution: Health Sciences Physical Therapy,Western University

Use of Human Participants - Ethics Approval Notice

Sponsor: Canadian Institutes of Health Research

Ethics Approval Date:March 26, 2013 Expiry Date:April 30, 2017

Documents Reviewed & Approved & Documents Received for Information:				
Document Name	Comments	Version Date		
Revised Letter of Information & Consent				
Revised Western University Protocol				

This is to notify you that The University of Western Ontario Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects (HSREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans and the Health Canada/ICH Good Clinical Practice Practices: Consolidated Guidelines; and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario has reviewed and granted approval to the above referenced revision(s) or amendment(s) on the approval date noted above. The membership of this REB also complies with the membership requirements for REB's as defined in Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations.

The ethics approval for this study shall remain valid until the expiry date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the HSREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information. If you require an updated approval notice prior to that time you must request it using the University of Western Ontario Updated Approval Request Form.

Members of the HSREB who are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interest, do not participate in discussion related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the HSREB.

The Chair of the HSREB is Dr. Joseph Gilbert. The HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Ethics Officer to Contact for Further Information

	1		
Janice Sutherland	Grace Kelly	Shantel Walcott	
(jsutherl@uwo.ca)	(grace.kelly@uwo.ca)	(sivalcot@uwo.ca)	

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.
Curriculum Vitae

Codie Alexander Primeau, BSc

Curriculum Vitae MSc Candidate

EDUCATION

Master of Science	Kinesiology, Integrative Biosciences Collaborative Program in Musculoskeletal Health Research Western University, London, Ontario, Canada Sept. 2014 – Aug. 2016
Bachelor of Science	Sciences de l'activité physique (Human Kinetics) University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada Sept. 2010 – Apr. 2014

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

Western University Graduate Student 2014-2016	Clinical and Cost-Effectiveness of a Locking Versus Non- Locking Fixation Plate in Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial Osteotomy Supervisors: Drs. Trevor Birmingham, J. Robert Giffin & Jacquelyn Marsh
Western University Graduate Student 2015-2016	Effect of Congenital Versus Acquired Varus on Patient- Reported Outcomes after High Tibial Osteotomy Supervisors: Drs. Trevor Birmingham & J. Robert Giffin
Western University Graduate Student 2014-2016	A Randomized Trial Comparing High Tibial Osteotomy Plus Non-Surgical Treatment to Non-Surgical Treatment Alone
University of Ottawa Undergraduate Student 2013-2014	Self-Controlled Feedback Is Effective If It Is Based on the Learner's Performance: A Replication and Extension of Chiviacowsky & Wulf (2005) Supervisors: Michael Carter & Dr. Diane Ste-Marie
University of Ottawa Undergraduate Student 2013-2014	A Comparative Biomechanical Analysis of Mid-Foot and Heel Strike Running Patterns Supervisors: Adam Teav & Dr. Jing Xian Li

HONOURS & AWARDS

Western University	
2016	Top Oral Presentation (KGSA Research Symposium)
2016	Top Poster Presentation (KGSA Research Symposium)
2015	Transdisciplinary Bone & Joint Training Award (\$10,000)
2014-2016	Western Graduate Research Scholarship
University of Ottawa	
2014	Maurice Jetté Student Leadership Award (\$1,000)
2014	Graduate with Magna Cum Laude Distinction
2013	Undergraduate Research Opportunity Program Grant (\$1,000)
2010-2014	Dean's Honor List
CONFERENCES	
London, ON April 2016	2 nd Annual KGSA Symposium <i>Oral Presentation</i> : High Tibial Osteotomy: A retrospective cohort comparing locking vs. non-locking plates <i>Poster Presentation</i> : Effect of congenital vs. acquired varus on patient-reported outcomes after high tibial osteotomy
London, ON April 2016	Canadian Bone & Joint Conference 2016 <i>Poster Presentation</i> : High Tibial Osteotomy: A retrospective cohort comparing locking vs. non-locking plates
Amsterdam, NED April 2016	Osteoarthritis Research Society International (OARSI) World Congress on Osteoarthritis 2016 <i>Poster Presentation</i> : Effect of congenital vs. acquired varus on patient-reported outcomes after high tibial osteotomy
Landan ON	Frankty of Harlth Sciences Descende Day
March 2016	Poster Presentation: Effect of congenital vs. acquired varus on patient-reported outcomes after high tibial osteotomy
London, ON April 2015	1 st Annual KGSA Symposium Oral Presentation: High Tibial Osteotomy: A retrospective cohort comparing locking vs. non-locking plates
London, ON March 2015	Faculty of Health Sciences Research Day <i>Poster Presentation</i> : High Tibial Osteotomy: A retrospective cohort comparing locking vs. non-locking plates

TEACHING EXPERIENCE

Teaching Assistant

Western University	
Winter 2016	KIN 2236B – Introduction to Athletic Injuries
	Professor: Dave Humphreys
Fall 2015	KIN 3330 – Laboratory in Exercise Physiology
	Professor: Mark Babcock
Winter 2015	KIN 3343: Biomechanical Analysis of Discrete Sport Skills
	Professor: Volker Nolte
Fall 2014	KIN 4560: Advanced Topics in Musculoskeletal Rehab
	Professor: Dave Humphreys

PEER-REVIEWED ABSTRACTS

- Primeau, C., Solomon, S., Birmingham, T., Moyer, R., Leitch, K., Giffin, J. R. (2016). Effect of congenital vs. acquired varus on patient-reported outcomes after high tibial osteotomy. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage, 24, S513* doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.01.938
- Moyer, R., Birmingham, T., Maschek, S., Appleton, T., Cool, D., King, J. P., Primeau, C. Giffin, J. R. (2016). Validation of a method to blind assessors to orthpaedic implants when performing MRI measures of articular cartilage morphology. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage, 24, S316* doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.01.567